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Independent Auditor’s ReportIndependent Auditor’s ReportIndependent Auditor’s ReportIndependent Auditor’s Report        
 

To the Shareholders of  
Fiera Capital Corporation  
    

    

OpinionOpinionOpinionOpinion    

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fiera Capital Corporation and its subsidiaries (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 
and 2018, and the consolidated statements of earnings (loss), comprehensive income (loss), changes in 
equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the “financial 
statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
    

Basis for OpinionBasis for OpinionBasis for OpinionBasis for Opinion    

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian 
GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
    

Other InformationOther InformationOther InformationOther Information    

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:  

● Management’s Discussion and Analysis  

● The information, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the Annual 
Report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we will perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact to those charged with governance. 



 

 

    

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial StatementsResponsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial StatementsResponsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial StatementsResponsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements    

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial StatementsAuditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial StatementsAuditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial StatementsAuditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements    

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 



 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chantal Leclerc. 
 
 
/s/ Deloitte LLP¹ 
 
March 18, 2020 
Montreal, Quebec 
  

¹ CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A121444 
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Fiera Capital CorporationFiera Capital CorporationFiera Capital CorporationFiera Capital Corporation    
Consolidated Statements of Consolidated Statements of Consolidated Statements of Consolidated Statements of EEEEarningsarningsarningsarnings    (Los(Los(Los(Loss)s)s)s)    
For theFor theFor theFor the    yyyyears ears ears ears endedendedendedended    DeDeDeDeccccembembembember 31,er 31,er 31,er 31,    
(I(I(I(In n n n thousandthousandthousandthousandssss    of of of of Canadian dollars, except per share data)Canadian dollars, except per share data)Canadian dollars, except per share data)Canadian dollars, except per share data)    

    2012012012019999    2018 

    $$$$    $ 

       
RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenuessss         
 Base management fees 570,256570,256570,256570,256    485,624 
 Performance fees 34,64334,64334,64334,643    23,102 
 Share of earnings in joint ventures and associates (Note 8) 6,06,06,06,044447777    − 

 Other revenues (Note 13) 44446666,,,,224224224224    31,559 

  666657575757,,,,170170170170    540,285 
ExpensesExpensesExpensesExpenses         

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 22) 484,484,484,484,333397979797    425,924 
External managers 4,0844,0844,0844,084    1,845 
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 10) 52,9752,9752,9752,975555    44,813 

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 11) 5,5,5,5,202020207777    4,235 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 12) 19,19,19,19,923923923923    − 
Restructuring, integration and other costs (Note 5) 14,514,514,514,539393939    7,586 
Acquisition costs 10,29210,29210,29210,292    11,086 

  591,591,591,591,417417417417    495,489 

Earnings before under-noted items 65,65,65,65,757575753333    44,796 

      
Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments ((((856856856856))))    (145) 
Loss on disposal of assets, intangible assets and property and equipment 222222222222    82 

Interest on lease liabilities 5,5,5,5,390390390390    − 
Interest on long-term debt and other financial charges (Note 23) 33331,1,1,1,841841841841    25,355 
Accretion and change in fair value of purchase price obligations (Note 13)  29,98029,98029,98029,980    24,497 
Gain on lease modifications and other (Note 12) (114)(114)(114)(114)    − 

Revaluation of puttable financial instrument liability 1,01,01,01,003030303    − 
Revaluation of assets held-for-sale (Note 7) (699)(699)(699)(699)    191 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes ((((1,014)1,014)1,014)1,014)    (5,184) 

      
Income tax expense (recovery) (Note 15) 9,6929,6929,6929,692    (429) 

Net earnings Net earnings Net earnings Net earnings (loss)(loss)(loss)(loss)    ((((10,70610,70610,70610,706))))    (4,755) 

    
NeNeNeNet eat eat eat earrrrnings (loss) attributable to:nings (loss) attributable to:nings (loss) attributable to:nings (loss) attributable to:         

Company’s shareholders ((((11113,3,3,3,444419191919))))    (5,013) 
Non-controlling interest 2,7132,7132,7132,713    258 

 ((((11110000,,,,706706706706))))    (4,755) 

 
Net earnings (loss) per share (Note 19)      
 Basic  (0.1(0.1(0.1(0.14444))))    (0.05) 
 Diluted (0.1(0.1(0.1(0.14444))))    (0.05) 

      
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FFFFiera Capital Corporatioiera Capital Corporatioiera Capital Corporatioiera Capital Corporationnnn    
CoCoCoConnnnsolidated Statesolidated Statesolidated Statesolidated Statements of ments of ments of ments of Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive IncomeIncomeIncomeIncome    (Loss)(Loss)(Loss)(Loss)    
For the yFor the yFor the yFor the years ears ears ears eeeendedndedndednded    December 31,December 31,December 31,December 31,    
(In(In(In(In    thousathousathousathousandndndndssss    of Canadof Canadof Canadof Canadian dollarsian dollarsian dollarsian dollars))))    

 2020202011119999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

    
         

Net earnings (loss) ((((11110000,,,,706706706706))))    (4,755) 
      
Other comprehensive income (loss):      
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to earnings (loss):         

 
Cash flow hedges (net of income taxes of $811 in 2019 and $259 in 

2018) (Note 13) (5,(5,(5,(5,310310310310))))    1,833 

 
Unrealized foreign exchange differences on translating financial 

statements of foreign operations ((((16161616,,,,486486486486))))    22,960 
 Other ((((61)61)61)61)     
Other comprehensive income (loss) (21,(21,(21,(21,888855557777))))    24,793 

ComprComprComprComprehensehensehensehensive incomeive incomeive incomeive income    (loss)(loss)(loss)(loss) ((((33332222,,,,563563563563))))    20,038 

         
CCCComprehensive income (loss) attributable to:omprehensive income (loss) attributable to:omprehensive income (loss) attributable to:omprehensive income (loss) attributable to:         

Company’s shareholders ((((33335555,,,,276276276276))))    19,780 
Non-controlling interest 2,72,72,72,711113333    258 
 ((((33332222,,,,563563563563))))    20,038 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FieFieFieFierararara    Capital CorporatiCapital CorporatiCapital CorporatiCapital Corporationononon    
Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated StaStaStaStatements of Financial Positiontements of Financial Positiontements of Financial Positiontements of Financial Position    
As at As at As at As at December 31,December 31,December 31,December 31,    
(In(In(In(In    thousandthousandthousandthousandssss    of Canadian dollarsof Canadian dollarsof Canadian dollarsof Canadian dollars))))    

 2012012012019999    2018 
 $$$$    $ 

AssetsAssetsAssetsAssets      
Current assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents 96,21996,21996,21996,219    52,466 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8,1488,1488,1488,148    1,012 
 Trade and other receivables (Note 9) 111177777777,,,,013013013013    148,459 
 Assets held-for-sale (Note 7) −    35,711 
 Investments (Note 13) 2,6572,6572,6572,657    4,857 
 Prepaid expenses and other assets 11116666,7,7,7,753535353    14,943 
 300,790300,790300,790300,790    257,448 

Non-current assets      
Goodwill (Note 10) 686868687777,,,,899899899899    631,699 
Intangible assets (Note 10) 515151516,8806,8806,8806,880    529,062 
Property and equipment (Note 11) 29,3429,3429,3429,343333    16,499 
Right-of-use assets (Note 12) 121212123,33,33,33,392929292    − 
Derivative financial instruments (Note 13) 537537537537    5,366 
Deferred income taxes (Note 15) 22223,5593,5593,5593,559    20,093 
Long-term investments (Note 13) 5,7435,7435,7435,743    − 
Investments in joint ventures and associates (Note 8) 11111111,,,,035035035035    − 
Other non-current assets (Note 13) 7,7147,7147,7147,714    440 

 1,1,1,1,707070706666,,,,892892892892    1,460,607 

LiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilities      
Current liabilities   
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 14) 202020207777,,,,447447447447    144,059 
 Current portion of purchase price obligations (Note 13) 33336,6,6,6,642642642642    32,487 
 Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 12) 16,16,16,16,631631631631    − 
 Restructuring provisions (Note 5) 3,3,3,3,159159159159    2,289 
 Derivative financial instruments (Note 13) 3333,540,540,540,540    1,672 
 Current portion of long-term debt (Note 16) −    388 
 Amounts due to related parties (Note 13) 1,5121,5121,5121,512    2,599 
 Client deposits and deferred revenues 1,71,71,71,761616161    727 
 Amounts due to holders of redeemable units (Note 7) −    5,394 
 Deferred income taxes on assets held-for-sale  −    704 
  222270707070,,,,692692692692    190,319 
Non-current liabilities      
 Long-term debt (Note 16) 446,699446,699446,699446,699    421,139 
 Convertible debt (Note 17) 185,793185,793185,793185,793    79,008 
 Lease liabilities (Note 12) 121212129,29,29,29,228282828    − 
 Derivative financial instruments (Note 13) 3,563,563,563,561111    1,560 
 Puttable financial instrument liability (Notes 4 and 13) 13,13,13,13,997997997997    − 
 Purchase price obligations (Note 13) 90,73290,73290,73290,732    98,221 

Long-term restructuring provisions (Note 5)  222222225555    715 
 Cash settled share-based liabilities (Note 20) 60606060    10,470 

Deferred lease obligations −    3,955 
Lease inducements −    4,335 
Deferred income taxes (Note 15) 11114,4,4,4,040404041111    12,489 
Other non-current liabilities (Note 13) 8,0288,0288,0288,028    4,670 

  1,11,11,11,166663333,,,,056056056056    826,881 
EquityEquityEquityEquity attributable tattributable tattributable tattributable to:o:o:o:      
Company’s shareholders    555542,42,42,42,811811811811    632,958 
Non-controlling interest 1,1,1,1,025025025025    768 

 545454543333,,,,836836836836    633,726 
 1,1,1,1,707070706666,,,,892892892892    1,460,607 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

ApprovedApprovedApprovedApproved    bbbby ty ty ty the he he he Board oBoard oBoard oBoard offff    DirectoDirectoDirectoDirectorsrsrsrs    
 
/s/ Jean-Guy Desjardins     /s/ Raymond Laurin 

----------------------------------   ------------------------------------  
Jean-Guy Desjardins, Director    Raymond Laurin, Director 
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    Fiera Capital CorporatFiera Capital CorporatFiera Capital CorporatFiera Capital Corporationionionion    
ConsoliConsoliConsoliConsolidated Stdated Stdated Stdated Statements of Chanatements of Chanatements of Chanatements of Changes in Equityges in Equityges in Equityges in Equity    

    ForForForFor    thethethethe    years endyears endyears endyears ended December 31,ed December 31,ed December 31,ed December 31,    
(In(In(In(In    thousandsthousandsthousandsthousands    of Canadiaof Canadiaof Canadiaof Canadian dollars)n dollars)n dollars)n dollars)    

 NotesNotesNotesNotes    
Share Share Share Share 

CapitalCapitalCapitalCapital    

RestricteRestricteRestricteRestricted d d d 
andandandand    

    hohohoholdback ldback ldback ldback 
sharessharessharesshares    

ContContContContributedributedributedributed    
surplussurplussurplussurplus    

ConvertibleConvertibleConvertibleConvertible    
debendebendebendebentureturetureturessss

equity equity equity equity 
componentcomponentcomponentcomponent    

Retained Retained Retained Retained 
earnings earnings earnings earnings 
((((ddddeficeficeficeficit)it)it)it)    

AccumulAccumulAccumulAccumulatedatedatedated    
othothothotherererer    

comprehensivecomprehensivecomprehensivecomprehensive    
incomeincomeincomeincome    

Equity Equity Equity Equity 
attrattrattrattributibutibutibutable to able to able to able to 

CoCoCoCompany’s mpany’s mpany’s mpany’s 
shareholdershareholdershareholdershareholderssss    

    
NonNonNonNon----

ConConConControlling trolling trolling trolling 
InInInInterestterestterestterest    

Total Total Total Total     
EquityEquityEquityEquity    

  $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    
Balance, December 31, 2017  691,586 (860) 18,660 3,330 (133,195) 13,024 592,545 (534) 592,011 
 Change in accounting policy – impact of IFRS 9  − − − − 161 (161) − − − 
 Net earnings (loss)   − − − − (5,013) − (5,013) 258 (4,755) 
 Other comprehensive income (loss)  − − − − − 24,793 24,793 − 24,793 
 Comprehensive income (loss)  − − − − (5,013) 24,793 19,780 258 20,038 
 Share-based compensation expense  20,22 − − 10,813 − − − 10,813 − 10,813 
 Performance and restricted share units settled 18 9,072 − (5,164) − − − 3,908 − 3,908 
 Restricted shares vested  − 821 (821) − − − − − − 
 Adjustment to transaction costs on previously issued shares 18 192 − − 9 − − 201 − 201 
 Stock options exercised  18 4,172 − (1,013) − − − 3,159 − 3,159 
 Shares issued as part of a business combination  4 66,708 − − − − − 66,708 − 66,708 
 Net change in non-controlling interest  − − − − − − − 1,044 1,044 
 Shares issued as settlement of purchase price obligations  4,18 4,076 5,501 − − − − 9,577 − 9,577 
 Cancellation of shares 18 (191) 39 − − − − (152) − (152) 
 Dividends 18 − − − − (73,581) − (73,581) − (73,581) 

Balance, December 31, 2018     775,615 5,501 22,475 3,339 (211,628) 37,656 632,958 768 633,726 

 Net earnings (loss)     −    −−−−    −−−−    −    ((((11113333,,,,419419419419))))    −−−− ((((11113,3,3,3,419419419419))))    2,7132,7132,7132,713    (1(1(1(10000,,,,706706706706))))    
 Other comprehensive income      −    −−−−    −−−−    −    −    (21,(21,(21,(21,888855557777))))    (21,(21,(21,(21,888855557777))))    −−−−    (21,(21,(21,(21,888855557777))))    
 Comprehensive income (loss)     −    −−−−    −−−−    −    (1(1(1(13333,,,,419419419419))))    (2(2(2(21,81,81,81,855557777))))    ((((33335,5,5,5,276276276276))))    2,72,72,72,713131313    ((((33332,2,2,2,565656563333))))    
 Share-based compensation expense  20202020,,,,22222222    −    −−−−    10,10,10,10,242242242242    −    −    − 10,10,10,10,242242242242    −−−−    10,10,10,10,242242242242    
 Deferred tax on share-based compensation expense 15151515    − −−−−    2,02,02,02,044448888    − − −−−−    2,02,02,02,044448888    −−−−    2,02,02,02,044448888    
 Shares issued as part of a business combination 4,14,14,14,18888    33335,3135,3135,3135,313    −−−−    −−−−    −    −    −−−−    35353535,313,313,313,313    −−−−    35353535,,,,313313313313    

 
Non-controlling interest acquired as part of a business 

acquisition 
    

4444    −    −−−−    −−−−    − − −−−−    −−−−    179179179179    179179179179    
 Non-controlling interest disposal     −    −−−−    −−−−    − − −−−−    −−−−    (179)(179)(179)(179)    (1(1(1(179797979))))    
 Performance and restricted share units settled  11118888    10,71010,71010,71010,710    −−−−    (7,(7,(7,(7,266266266266))))    −    −    −−−−    3,3,3,3,444444444444    −−−−    3333,,,,444444444444    

 Stock options exercised  11118888    1,2411,2411,2411,241    −−−−    ((((238)238)238)238)    −    −    −−−−    1,0031,0031,0031,003    −−−−    1,0031,0031,0031,003    
 Conversion of holdback shares 11118888    5555,501,501,501,501    (5,501)(5,501)(5,501)(5,501)    −−−−    −    −    −−−−    −−−−    −−−−    −−−−    

 Shares issued as settlement of purchase price obligations  4,4,4,4,11118888    5555,532,532,532,532    −−−−    −−−−    −    −    −−−−    5,5325,5325,5325,532    −−−−    5,5325,5325,5325,532    
 Dividends 11118888    −    −−−−    −−−−    −    (8(8(8(83,7323,7323,7323,732))))    −−−−    (8(8(8(83333,,,,732732732732))))    (2,456)(2,456)(2,456)(2,456)    (8(8(8(86666,,,,111188888888))))    
 Common shares issued under DRIP 11118888    339339339339    −−−−    −−−−    −    − −−−−    339339339339    −−−−    333339393939    
 Share repurchase and cancellation  11118888    (23(23(23(23,742),742),742),742)    −−−−    (5,318)(5,318)(5,318)(5,318)    −    − −−−−    (29,060)(29,060)(29,060)(29,060)    −−−−    (2(2(2(29,060)9,060)9,060)9,060)    

Balance,Balance,Balance,Balance,    December 31December 31December 31December 31, 201, 201, 201, 2019999        818181810,5090,5090,5090,509    −−−−    21,9421,9421,9421,943333    3,3393,3393,3393,339    ((((333300008888,,,,779779779779))))    11115,5,5,5,777799999999    555542424242,,,,811811811811    1,1,1,1,025025025025    555544443333,,,,836836836836    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FiFiFiFiera Capital Corporatera Capital Corporatera Capital Corporatera Capital Corporationionionion    
Consolidated StatemConsolidated StatemConsolidated StatemConsolidated Statements of Cash Flowsents of Cash Flowsents of Cash Flowsents of Cash Flows    
For the years ended December 31,For the years ended December 31,For the years ended December 31,For the years ended December 31,    
(In(In(In(In    thousathousathousathousands onds onds onds of Caf Caf Caf Canadian dollnadian dollnadian dollnadian dollarararars)s)s)s)    

    2012012012019999    2018 

    $$$$    $ 
OperatingOperatingOperatingOperating    activiactiviactiviactivitiestiestiesties            

Net earnings (loss) (1(1(1(10,7060,7060,7060,706))))    (4,755) 
Adjustments for:      

 
Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property and equipment and 

right-of-use assets 78,10578,10578,10578,105    49,048 
 Amortization of deferred charges 436436436436    390 
 Loss on disposal of assets 11111111    82 

 (Gain) loss on lease modification and other (11(11(11(114444))))    − 

 
Accretion and change in fair value of purchase price obligations and puttable financial 

instrument liability 
30,30,30,30,989898983333    24,497 

 Lease inducements and deferred lease obligations −    (1,223) 

 Share-based compensation expense (Note 22) 10,2410,2410,2410,242222    10,813 
 Cash settled share-based compensation expense (Note 22) 14,14,14,14,020202022222    14,155 
 Restructuring, integration and other costs 380380380380    (2,984) 

 Interest on lease liabilities 5555,,,,390390390390    − 
 Interest on long-term debt and other financial charges 31,31,31,31,841841841841    25,355 
 Income tax expense (recovery) 9999,,,,692692692692    (429) 
 Income tax paid (17,756)(17,756)(17,756)(17,756)    (7,916) 
 Revaluation of assets held-for-sale (699)(699)(699)(699)    191 
 Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on financial instruments (8(8(8(855556)6)6)6)    674 
 Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments (2,2(2,2(2,2(2,200001)1)1)1)    (231) 

 Share of earnings in joint ventures and associates (Note 8) (6,047)(6,047)(6,047)(6,047)    − 
 Other non-current liabilities ((((8888,9,9,9,917171717))))    1,550 
 Changes in non-cash operating working capital items (Note 24)  15,15,15,15,993993993993    (2,923) 
NetNetNetNet    cash generated cash generated cash generated cash generated by by by by operating activitiesoperating activitiesoperating activitiesoperating activities    141414149999,,,,799799799799    106,294 
InveInveInveInvesting activitsting activitsting activitsting activitiesiesiesies         
 Business combinations (Note 4)  ((((66664444,,,,147147147147))))    (53,706) 

 Disposal of assets 33,93133,93133,93133,931    − 
 Settlement of purchase price adjustments and obligations (28(28(28(28,838),838),838),838)    (25,107) 
 Investments, net 4,44,44,44,470707070    (17,969) 

 Investments in joint ventures and associates (Note 8) (3,616)(3,616)(3,616)(3,616)    − 
 Distributions received from joint ventures and associates 9,1619,1619,1619,161    − 
 Purchase of property and equipment (16,049(16,049(16,049(16,049))))    (2,512) 
 Purchase or acquisition of intangible assets (1(1(1(15,008)5,008)5,008)5,008)    (11,297) 
 Deferred charges and other (5,155)(5,155)(5,155)(5,155)    (141) 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents (7,246)(7,246)(7,246)(7,246)    (13) 
Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash usedusedusedused    inininin    investinvestinvestinvesting activitiesing activitiesing activitiesing activities    ((((99992222,,,,497497497497))))    (110,745) 
FinaFinaFinaFinancingncingncingncing    activiactiviactiviactivitiestiestiesties         
 Settlement of share-based compensation (2,688)(2,688)(2,688)(2,688)    (1,333) 
 Dividends paid (85,850)(85,850)(85,850)(85,850)    (73,581) 

 Lease payments (10,407)(10,407)(10,407)(10,407)    − 
 Issuance of share capital less issuance costs of $16 ($7 in 2018) 999987878787    3,151 

 Share repurchase and cancellation (29,060)(29,060)(29,060)(29,060)    − 
 Contribution (purchase) of non-controlling interest −    1,044 
 Long-term debt, net  49,00549,00549,00549,005    109,261 

 Issuance of debentures, net of transaction costs of $5,007 104,993104,993104,993104,993    − 
 Interest paid on long-term debt (25,(25,(25,(25,042)042)042)042)    (20,890) 
 Settlement of derivative financial instruments ((((7,87,87,87,845)45)45)45)    654 
 Financing charges (1,320)(1,320)(1,320)(1,320)    (1,495) 
Net cashNet cashNet cashNet cash    generated by (used in)generated by (used in)generated by (used in)generated by (used in)    financing activitiesfinancing activitiesfinancing activitiesfinancing activities    (7,227)(7,227)(7,227)(7,227)    16,811 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 55550000,,,,000075757575    12,360 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash denominated in foreign currencies ((((6,3226,3226,3226,322))))    (973) 
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 52,46652,46652,46652,466    41,079 
Cash and cash equivalents – end of year 96,96,96,96,219219219219    52,466 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1.1.1.1. DescriptDescriptDescriptDescription of ion of ion of ion of BBBBusinessusinessusinessusiness        

Fiera Capital Corporation (“Fiera Capital” or the “Company”) was incorporated as Fry & Company (Investment 
Management) Limited in 1955 and is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The Company is a 
global asset management firm which offers a wide range of traditional and alternative investment solutions, 
including depth and expertise in asset allocation. The Company provides investment advisory and related 
services to institutional investors, private wealth clients and retail investors.  
 
The Company’s head office is located at 1981 McGill College Avenue, Suite 1500, Montréal, Quebec, Canada.  
The Company’s shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “FSZ”. 
 
The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, on March 18, 2020. 
 

2.2.2.2. Basis oBasis oBasis oBasis of f f f presenpresenpresenpresentation atation atation atation andndndnd    adoption of adoption of adoption of adoption of new new new new IIIIFFFFRSRSRSRS    

CCCComplianceomplianceomplianceompliance    with IFRSwith IFRSwith IFRSwith IFRS    

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as at 
December 31, 2019.    
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 
 
The Company has prepared and presented these consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars.  
 
AdoptionAdoptionAdoptionAdoption    of nof nof nof new IFRSew IFRSew IFRSew IFRS    

IFRS 16 – Leases 

The Company adopted IFRS 16 – Leases on January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet 
accounting model for lessees. As a result, the Company, as a lessee, has recognized right-of-use assets in the 
consolidated statement of financial position mostly representing its rights to use its office facilities that meet 
the definition of a lease, and lease liabilities representing its obligations to make lease payments.  
 
The Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Accordingly, the comparative 
information presented for 2018 has not been restated and is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 – 
Leases and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are described below.  
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2.2.2.2.    Basis of Basis of Basis of Basis of prprprpresentaesentaesentaesentation andtion andtion andtion and    adoption of new IFRS adoption of new IFRS adoption of new IFRS adoption of new IFRS (continued) 

Definition of Definition of Definition of Definition of a leasea leasea leasea lease    

As a lessee, the Company previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of 
whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, a contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in 
exchange for consideration.  
 
TTTTransitiransitiransitiransitionononon    

On transition to IFRS 16, the Company elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment 
of which transactions are leases and applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
under IAS 17. For leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, lease liabilities were measured at the present 
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Company’s incremental borrowing rate as at 
January 1, 2019. Right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the 
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.  

    

The Company used the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as 
operating leases under IAS 17.  
 
- Exclude initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application. 

- Did not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets. 

- Rely on previous assessments of whether a lease is an onerous contract. 

The Company did not elect to use the exemption which permits it to exclude right-of-use assets and leases 
liabilities with a lease term of less than 12 months at the transition date. 
 

The impact on transition to IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019 is summarized below.  
 

      
As at  

January 1, 2019 

     $ 

LeLeLeLeaaaase se se se lllliabiliabiliabiliabilitiesitiesitiesities        125,055 
Reversal of lease inducements     (4,335) 
Reversal of deferred lease obligations     (3,955) 
Reversal of lease related accrued assets and liabilities     503 
RightRightRightRight----ofofofof----use assetsuse assetsuse assetsuse assets      117,268 

 
For leases that were previously classified as operating leases, the Company discounted the contractual lease 
payments using a weighted average incremental borrowing rate of 4.34% as at January 1, 2019.  
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2.2.2.2.    Basis of presentation and adoption of new IFRS Basis of presentation and adoption of new IFRS Basis of presentation and adoption of new IFRS Basis of presentation and adoption of new IFRS (continued) 

  
As at 

January 1, 2019 

 $ 

Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 as disclosed in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements 100,967 

Additional rent and lease inducements 42,481 
Recognition of exemption for leases of low-value assets (78) 
Amount reclassified from other commitments to lease commitments 19,303 
Discounted using incremental borrowing rates as at January 1, 2019 (37,618) 
Lease liabilities recognized as at January 1, 2019 125,055 
Classified as:  

Current lease receivable (8,466) 
Current lease liabilities 14,863 
Non-current lease liabilities 118,658 

Lease liabilities recognized as at January 1, 2019 125,055 

    
RevRevRevRevised IFRS, intised IFRS, intised IFRS, intised IFRS, interpretatierpretatierpretatierpretations and amendmentsons and amendmentsons and amendmentsons and amendments    

The following revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2019.  Their adoption 
did not have a significant impact on the amounts reported or disclosures made in these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. The interpretation addresses 
the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, 
when there is uncertainty over income tax treatment under IAS 12. It specifically considers whether tax 
treatments should be considered collectively, assumptions for taxation authorities’ examinations, the 
determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates and the 
effect of changes in facts and circumstances.  
 
Annual improvements to IFRS (2015-2017 cycle) 

In December 2017, the IASB published Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle. It contains 
amendments to four IFRS as a result of the IASB's annual improvements project. The amendments to IFRS 3 –
 Business combinations clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it 
remeasures previously held interests in that business. The amendments to IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements clarify 
that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure 
previously held interests in that business. The amendments to IAS 12 – Income taxes clarify that all income tax 
consequences of dividends should be recognized in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax arises.  The 
amendments to IAS 23 – Borrowing costs clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the 
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity 
borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings. 
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2.2.2.2.    Basis of presentation and adoptiBasis of presentation and adoptiBasis of presentation and adoptiBasis of presentation and adoptioooon of new IFRS n of new IFRS n of new IFRS n of new IFRS (continued) 

NeNeNeNew standards and interprew standards and interprew standards and interprew standards and interpretatatatations not yetions not yetions not yetions not yet adoptedt adoptedt adoptedt adopted    

A number of interpretations and amendments to existing standards were issued by the IASB Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”) that are mandatory but not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2019 and have 
not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  The Company is evaluating the impact 
of these new standards and interpretations on its consolidated financial statements. However, they are not 
expected to have a significant impact for the Company. 
 
Amendments to Hedge Accounting Requirement – IBOR Reform and its Effects on Financial Reporting 

On September 26, 2019, the IASB issued amendments for some of its requirements for hedge accounting in 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as well as the 
related Standard on disclosures, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures in relation to Phase 1 of IBOR Reform 
and its Effects on Financial Reporting project. The amendments are effective from January 1, 2020. The 
amendments address issues affecting financial reporting in the period leading up to IBOR reform, are 
mandatory and apply to all hedging relationships directly affected by uncertainties related to IBOR reform. The 
amendments modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential effects of 
the uncertainty caused by the IBOR reform in the following areas: 

• the ‘highly probable’ requirement; 
• prospective assessments; 
• retrospective assessments (for IAS 39); and 
• eligibility of risk components. 
 
Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3) 

On October 22, 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, that seek to clarify 
whether a transaction results in an asset or a business acquisition. The amendments apply to businesses 
acquired in annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The amendments include an 
election to use a concentration test. This is a simplified assessment that results in an asset acquisition if 
substantially all the fair value of the gross assets is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of 
similar identifiable assets. If a preparer chooses not to apply the concentration test, or the test is failed, then 
the assessment focuses on the existence of a substantive process. 
 

3.3.3.3. SignifiSignifiSignifiSignificant accountincant accountincant accountincant accounting pog pog pog policielicielicielicies, judgments and estimas, judgments and estimas, judgments and estimas, judgments and estimattttion uncerion uncerion uncerion uncertaintytaintytaintytainty        

SSSSignificantignificantignificantignificant    accountinaccountinaccountinaccounting policiesg policiesg policiesg policies    

This note provides a list of significant accounting policies adopted in the presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
BBBBasasasasis ois ois ois of measurf measurf measurf measurementementementement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets 
and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (including derivatives) and investments in joint 
ventures and associates measured using the equity accounting method. 
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3.3.3.3. SignifiSignifiSignifiSignificant acant acant acant acccccountincountincountincounting g g g policiepoliciepoliciepolicies,s,s,s,    judgmentjudgmentjudgmentjudgments and estimation uncertaintys and estimation uncertaintys and estimation uncertaintys and estimation uncertainty    (continued)    

CoCoCoConsolidationnsolidationnsolidationnsolidation    

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (including structured entities) and its share of interests in joint ventures and associates. All 
intercompany transactions and balances with subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation.  
 
Subsidiaries (including structured entities) are those entities which the Company controls.  The Company 
controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.  The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by 
the Company and are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.  
 
Non-controlling interests in the earnings (loss) and equity of subsidiaries are disclosed separately in the 
consolidated statements of financial position, earnings (loss), comprehensive income (loss), and changes in 
equity. 
 
Where applicable, the subsidiaries’ accounting policies are modified at the business acquisition date to ensure 
that they are consistent with the policies adopted by the Company. 
 
Business combinatBusiness combinatBusiness combinatBusiness combinationionionionssss    

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.  Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed when incurred. 
 
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair 
value, except deferred tax assets or liabilities, which are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 – 
Income Taxes. Subsequent changes in fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition if they qualify as 
measurement period adjustments. The measurement period is the period between the date of the acquisition 
and the date where all significant information necessary to determine the fair values is available and cannot 
exceed 12 months.  All other subsequent changes are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings 
(loss).  The determination of fair value involves making estimates relating to assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed including among others, intangible assets, property and equipment and contingent consideration.  
Contingent consideration that is classified as a financial liability measured at fair value through profit and loss is 
remeasured at each subsequent reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in the 
statements of earnings (loss). 
 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred over the net amount of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is recognized immediately in 
the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) as a bargain purchase gain. 
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3.3.3.3.    SignifSignifSignifSignificant accountiicant accountiicant accountiicant accounting policing policing policing policies, judgments and estimation uncertes, judgments and estimation uncertes, judgments and estimation uncertes, judgments and estimation uncertainty ainty ainty ainty (continued)  
 
Investments Investments Investments Investments in joint in joint in joint in joint venturesventuresventuresventures    and and and and assocassocassocassociatesiatesiatesiates    

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.  Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of 
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control. 
   
An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor 
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
 
The Company’s interests in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. They are initially recognized at cost. Subsequent to the acquisition date, the Company’s share of 
earnings of a joint venture and an associate is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). The 
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.  
 
Where applicable, the joint venture’s and associate’s accounting policies are modified at the acquisition date to 
ensure that they are consistent with the policies adopted by the Company. 
 
The Company assesses at each year end whether there is any objective evidence that its interests in joint 
ventures and associates are impaired; if impaired, the carrying value of the Company’s investment in the joint 
venture or associate is written down to its estimated recoverable amount (being the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value-in-use) and charged to the consolidated statements of earnings. In accordance with IAS 
36 – Impairment of assets, impairment losses are reversed in subsequent years if the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized. 
    
ForeignForeignForeignForeign    ccccurreurreurreurrennnncy translationcy translationcy translationcy translation 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses from the settlement of foreign currency 
transactions and from the translation at reporting date exchange rates for monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. Foreign exchange 
gains or losses are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment 
hedges or are attributable to a part of the net investment in a foreign operation. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated in Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in 
effect at the date of initial recognition. 
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The revenue and 
expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange rates at the date of transactions. 
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3333....    SigSigSigSignificant accounting policies, jnificant accounting policies, jnificant accounting policies, jnificant accounting policies, juuuudgments and estimation uncertaintdgments and estimation uncertaintdgments and estimation uncertaintdgments and estimation uncertainty y y y (continued)        
 
Translation gains or losses related to foreign operations are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) 
and are reclassified in earnings on disposal or partial disposal of the investment in the related foreign 
operations. 
 
Derivative financial instrumentsDerivative financial instrumentsDerivative financial instrumentsDerivative financial instruments    

The Company uses derivative financial instruments including interest rate and cross currency swaps and 
forward foreign exchange contracts, to manage its exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and market risks 
arising from operational, financing and investment activities. Derivative financial instruments are used only for 
economic hedging purposes and not as speculative instruments.   
 
The Company designates certain derivatives as either: fair value, cash flow or net investment hedges. When 
hedge accounting is applied, the Company documents at the inception of the hedging transaction, the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged items as well as its risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company also documents its assessment both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used for hedging transactions 
have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values and cash flows of hedged 
items.  
 
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The accounting 
for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, 
and if so, the nature of the hedged item. For trading derivatives, gains or losses on remeasurement to fair value 
are recognized immediately in profit or loss.   
 
For hedging derivatives, the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives that qualify for hedge 
accounting are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated reserves in equity.  The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit and loss.  
 
When a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the definition for 
hedge accounting, any cumulative gains or losses in equity at that time remain in equity and are recognized 
when the transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or loss.  
 
Derivatives are classified as current when the remaining maturity of the contract is less than 12 months.  
 
Transaction costs incurred for trading and hedging derivative financial instruments are recognized in profit or 
loss as incurred.   
 
ReveReveReveRevenue reconue reconue reconue recoggggninininitiontiontiontion    

Revenue is recognized when or as the performance obligations are satisfied and control of the services is 
transferred to the Company. Control either transfers over time or at a point in time, which affects when 
revenue is recorded.  
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3333....    SignSignSignSignificant ificant ificant ificant aaaaccccccccounting ounting ounting ounting ppppolicieolicieolicieolicies, judgs, judgs, judgs, judgments and estimatiments and estimatiments and estimatiments and estimation uncertainty on uncertainty on uncertainty on uncertainty (continued)        
 
Base management fees are calculated and invoiced monthly or quarterly based on daily average assets under 
management (“AUM”) or invoiced quarterly in arrears based on the calendar quarter-end or month-end asset 
values under management or on an average of opening and closing AUM for the quarter.  
 
Performance fees are recognized when the amount to be received is known and it is highly probable that the 
revenue recognized will not result in a subsequent reversal of revenue recognized to date. This may be earlier 
than the performance measurement dates contained in the individual account agreements and which may be 
dependent upon performance of the account exceeding agreed-upon benchmarks over the relevant period. 
 
Other revenuesOther revenuesOther revenuesOther revenues    

Other revenues consist mainly of brokerage commissions, consulting fees, tax planning and unrealized and 
realized gains or losses on forward foreign exchange contracts.   
 
DeferredDeferredDeferredDeferred    rerererevenuesvenuesvenuesvenues    

Payments received in advance for services to be provided to external parties are recorded upon receipt as 
deferred revenues. These revenues are recognized in the period in which the related services are rendered. 

EmplEmplEmplEmployee boyee boyee boyee beeeennnnefitsefitsefitsefits    

Post-employment benefit obligations 

Certain employees of the Company have entitlements under the Company’s defined contribution pension 
plans. The cost of defined contribution pension plans is charged to expense as the contributions are earned by 
the employees. 
 
Bonus plans  

The Company recognizes a provision and an expense for bonuses at the time the Company becomes 
contractually obliged to make a payment or when there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation. 
 
Share-based compensation 

The fair value of share-based payments is measured in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based payment. Equity-
settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The 
fair value determined at grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed based on cliff 
vesting or graded vesting, depending on the individual plans, over the vesting period, based on the Company’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. 
 
For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognized at the grant date and is remeasured at each 
reporting period until the liability is settled, with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 
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3333....    SSSSignificant accoignificant accoignificant accoignificant accounting polunting polunting polunting policiiciiciicies, judgments and eses, judgments and eses, judgments and eses, judgments and estimtimtimtimation uation uation uation uncncncncertainty ertainty ertainty ertainty (continued)  
 
Stock options 

Share-based compensation expense is recorded using the fair value method. Under this method, the 
compensation expense for each tranche is measured at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model and recognized as share-based compensation over the vesting period with an equal and 
offsetting amount recorded to contributed surplus.   
 
The vesting period is the period over which all the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. When stock 
options are exercised, any consideration paid by employees is credited to share capital and the recorded fair 
value of the options is removed from contributed surplus and credited to share capital.  
 
Deferred share unit plan  

The Deferred Share Unit Plan (“DSU Plan”) is recorded as a share-based liability since the payments will be 
made in cash when a participant ceases to be a director. The expense associated with granting deferred share 
units (“DSU”) was recognized when the deferred shares were issued. Changes in the fair value of previously 
issued DSU that arise due to changes in the price of the Company’s Class A Shares are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss).  

The liability related to this plan is classified as current and is recognized in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities. The liability is derecognized when the DSUs are settled. 
 
A DSU participant’s account is credited with dividend equivalents in the form of additional DSUs at each 
dividend payment date, if any, in respect of which dividends are paid on Class A Shares.  
 
Restricted share unit plan  

The Restricted Share Unit Plan (“RSU Plan”) is recorded as a share-based liability since a portion may be settled 
in cash, at the sole discretion of the Company. The liability is remeasured at each reporting period based on the 
closing trading price of the Company’s Class A Shares on the TSX and is remeasured until the settlement date. 
The fair value of the restricted share unit (“RSU”) is determined at each reporting date and the expense is 
recorded over the remaining vesting period on a straight-line basis. When the Company’s intention is to settle 
an award in shares, then the fair value is established at grant date and is not remeasured. 
 
An RSU participant’s account is credited with dividend equivalents in the form of additional RSUs at each 
dividend payment date, if any, in respect of which dividends are paid on Class A Shares.  
 
Restricted share unit plan - cash 

This plan is accounted for as a cash-settled share-based liability since the payments will be made in cash. The 
liability is remeasured at each reporting period based on the closing trading price of the Company’s Class A 
Shares on the TSX and is remeasured until the settlement date. The expense is recorded over the remaining 
vesting period on a straight-line basis. 
 
An RSU – cash participant’s account is credited with dividend equivalents in the form of additional RSUs at each 
dividend payment date, if any, in respect of which dividends are paid on Class A Shares.  
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3.3.3.3.    SignifiSignifiSignifiSignificant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertainty cant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertainty cant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertainty cant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertainty (continued)    
 
Performance Share Unit (“PSU”) and Unit Appreciation Right ("UAR”) Plan applicable to Business Units (“PSU and 
UAR plan applicable to BU”) 

Under the terms of this plan, the Company grants PSU and UAR at a value determined by reference to the 
value of a specific business unit rather than by reference to the trading price of the Company’s Class A Shares.  
 
At the time of grant of any PSU plan applicable to BU or UAR plan applicable to BU, the Company determines 
(i) the award value, (ii) the number of PSU or UAR granted, (iii) the value of each PSU or UAR granted, (iv) the 
formula used to determine the value of the applicable business unit, (v) the vesting terms and conditions, and 
(vi) the applicable vesting date(s).  
 
The fair value of equity-settled instruments is measured at the grant date which is the date at which the Board 
approves the plan or when the Company and the participant agree to a share-based compensation 
arrangement and requires that the Company and the participant have a shared understanding of the terms and 
conditions of the arrangement. The Company recognizes compensation expense on a proportionate basis over 
the vesting period.  
 
The method of settlement is determined for each grant. Such methods may include all or a portion of the value 
of the vested PSU and UAR payable in Class A Shares or in cash, at the sole discretion of the Company. The 
Company’s intention on the settlement method determines if a plan is accounted for as cash-settled or as 
equity-settled. When the payment obligation is settled through the delivery of shares, the Company 
determines the total number of the Class A Shares to be issued based on the total settlement date value 
divided by a volume-weighted average price as defined in the plan. 
 
The compensation expense is recognized either based on a cliff vesting or a graded vesting schedule over the 
vesting period when it is probable that the performance targets will be met. The attainment of the performance 
conditions and the estimated vesting of the units are reassessed at the end of each reporting period.     
 
PSU Plan 

Under the terms of the PSU plan, the Company grants PSUs at a value determined by reference to the trading 
price of the Class A Shares of the Company.  
 
At the time of grant of any PSU plan, the Company determines (i) the award value, (ii) the number of PSUs 
granted, (iii) the value of each PSU granted, (iv) the vesting terms and conditions of the PSUs, and (v) the 
applicable vesting date(s).  
 
The fair value of equity instruments is measured at the grant date which is the date at which the Company and 
the participant agree to a share-based compensation arrangement and requires that the Company and the 
participant have a shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the arrangement. For the PSU plans 
accounted for as cash-settled, the liability is measured at each reporting period based on the closing trading 
price of the Company’s Class A Shares on the TSX and is remeasured until the settlement date.   
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3.3.3.3.    Significant accounSignificant accounSignificant accounSignificant accounting policies, judgments and estting policies, judgments and estting policies, judgments and estting policies, judgments and estimation uncertainty imation uncertainty imation uncertainty imation uncertainty (continued)    
 
The method of settlement is determined for each grant. Such methods may include all or a portion of the value 
of the vested PSUs payable in Class A Shares or in cash, at the sole discretion of the Company. The Company’s 
intention on the settlement method determines if a plan is accounted for as cash-settled or as equity-settled.  
When the payment obligation is settled through the delivery of shares, the Company determines the total 
number of the Class A Shares to be issued based on the total settlement date value divided by a volume-
weighted average price as defined in the plan. 
 
The PSU compensation expense is recognized either based on a cliff vesting or a graded vesting schedule over 
the vesting period when it is probable that the performance targets will be met. The attainment of the 
performance conditions and the estimated vesting of the PSUs are reassessed at the end of each reporting 
period.  
 
A PSU participant’s account is credited with dividend equivalents in the form of additional PSUs at each 
dividend payment date, if any, in respect of which dividends are paid on Class A Shares. 
 
AcquAcquAcquAcquiiiisisisisition ction ction ction costsostsostsosts    

Acquisition costs include expenses, fees, commissions and other costs associated with the collection of 
information, negotiation of contracts, risk assessments related to business combinations that have closed or 
that are being contemplated.  These expenses are mostly composed of legal, advisors and specialists’ fees. 
 
EEEEarnings per sharnings per sharnings per sharnings per shareareareare    

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net earnings (loss) for the year attributable to 
equity owners of the Company by the weighted average number of shares and holdback shares outstanding 
during the year. 
 
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive share-based awards. The number of shares included with 
respect to options and similar instruments is computed using the treasury stock method, with only the bonus 
element of the issue reflected in diluted EPS.  The bonus element is the difference between the number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued at the exercise price and the number of ordinary shares that would have 
been issued at the average trading price per share. The Company’s potentially dilutive shares include stock 
options, RSUs, PSU and UAR applicable to Bus, PSU, contingent purchase price consideration payable in shares 
for which management expects the shares to be issued based on meeting target conditions specified in the 
acquisition agreement, shares issued from treasury through the dividend reinvestment plan and convertible 
debentures. In the event where basic EPS is negative, diluted EPS is calculated similarly to basic EPS. 
 
FinancialFinancialFinancialFinancial    instrumentsinstrumentsinstrumentsinstruments    

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date. 
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3.3.3.3. SSSSignignignignificant accounting policies,ificant accounting policies,ificant accounting policies,ificant accounting policies,    judgments and estjudgments and estjudgments and estjudgments and estimation uncertaiimation uncertaiimation uncertaiimation uncertainty nty nty nty (continued)    
 
ClClClClaaaassificationssificationssificationssification    

At initial recognition, all financial instruments are recorded at fair value on the consolidated statements of 
financial position. Financial assets must be classified as subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (loss), at amortized cost, or at fair value through profit or loss. The Company 
determines the classification based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets and on 
the business model it uses to manage these financial assets. At initial recognition, financial liabilities are 
classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortized cost  

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flow 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, if it is held within a 
business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and is not designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the short term. The instruments held by the Company that are classified in this category are 
certain securities and obligations, classified under investments and derivative financial instruments in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Financial instruments in this category are measured initially and subsequently at fair value through profit and 
loss. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). Gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) in the 
period in which they arise. Dividends on financial assets through profit or loss are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) when the Company’s right to receive dividends is established.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current except for the portion expected to be 
realized or paid beyond twelve-months of the consolidated statement of financial position date, which is 
classified as non-current. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost are recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred, 
and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Amounts that may be payable under written put rights or as purchase price obligations are initially recorded at 
their fair value and subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.  
 
Cash and caCash and caCash and caCash and cashshshsh    equivalentsequivalentsequivalentsequivalents    

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and bank overdrafts. 
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3.3.3.3. Significant aSignificant aSignificant aSignificant accounticcounticcounticcountinnnng policies, judgments andg policies, judgments andg policies, judgments andg policies, judgments and    eeeeststststimatioimatioimatioimation uncertn uncertn uncertn uncertainty ainty ainty ainty (continued)  
 
RestRestRestRestrictrictrictricted ced ced ced cashashashash    and cash equivalentand cash equivalentand cash equivalentand cash equivalentssss    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consists of client deposits received following the settlement of a class 
action in favour of certain clients for whom the Company acted as agent, cash held in a segregated account, in 
connection with lease arrangements and cash subject to regulatory restrictions and therefore not available for 
general use. 
    
InvestInvestInvestInvestmentsmentsmentsments    

Investments in mutual fund, pooled fund or limited partnership units are carried at the net asset value reported 
by the fund manager. Investments in other securities and obligations are carried on the consolidated 
statements of financial position at fair value using bid prices at the end of the reporting period.  
 
Assets heldAssets heldAssets heldAssets held----forforforfor----sasasasalelelele    

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is 
highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.  
 
Such assets, or disposal groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and 
liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to financial assets and deferred tax assets, which 
continue to be measured in accordance with the Company’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on 
initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) in revaluation of assets held-for-sale.   
 
Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property and equipment are no longer amortized or 
depreciated.  
    
GGGGooooodwill odwill odwill odwill     

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of 
the Company’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested at 
least annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed. 
 
Intangible aIntangible aIntangible aIntangible assssssssets other than goodwiets other than goodwiets other than goodwiets other than goodwillllllll    

Intangible assets with an indefinite life such as the asset management contracts with investment funds are 
accounted for at historical cost. Transaction costs, such as professional fees, are capitalized when they are 
directly attributable to preparing the intangible asset for its intended use. The Company expects both the 
renewal of these contracts and the cash flows generated by these assets to continue indefinitely.  Accordingly, 
the Company does not amortize these intangible assets, but reviews them for impairment, annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired.  
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3333....    SignificaSignificaSignificaSignificant accounnt accounnt accounnt accounting policies, judgmeting policies, judgmeting policies, judgmeting policies, judgments and estimnts and estimnts and estimnts and estimatioatioatioation uncertainty n uncertainty n uncertainty n uncertainty (continued)  
 
Intangible assets with a finite life are accounted for at historical cost, less accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Other intangible assets are comprised of trade names, software and non-compete 
agreements.  
 
The expected useful lives of finite-life customer relationships and asset management contracts are analyzed 
each year and determined based on the analysis of the historical and projected attrition rates of clients and 
other factors that may influence the expected future economic benefit that the Company will generate from 
the customer relationships or management contracts.  
 
Development costs for internally-generated intangible assets are capitalized when all of the following 
conditions are met: 

• technical feasibility can be demonstrated; 
• management has the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 
• management can demonstrate the ability to use the intangible asset; 
• it is probable that the intangible asset will generate future economic benefits; 
• the Company can demonstrate the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the development and to use the intangible asset; and 
• costs attributable to the asset can be measured reliably. 
 
The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditures 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditures are charged to the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Amortization of finite-life intangible assets is based on their estimated useful lives using the straight-line 
method over the following periods: 

 

Asset management contracts 6 to 10 years 
Customer relationships 5 to 20 years 
Other intangible assets  2 to 8 years 

LeasesLeasesLeasesLeases    

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.  
 
At commencement or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone prices. For office facilities for which the Company is a lessee, an election was made not to separate non-
lease components and instead account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
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3333....    SignificaSignificaSignificaSignificant accounting nt accounting nt accounting nt accounting policies,policies,policies,policies,    judgments and estimajudgments and estimajudgments and estimajudgments and estimation uncertainty tion uncertainty tion uncertainty tion uncertainty (continued)  
 
The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability as described below. The right-of use asset is 
depreciated using the straight-line method over the lesser of the lease term and the useful life of the asset.  
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future lease payments, discounted using the rate 
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate 
as the discount rate. The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from 
various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of 
leased asset. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  

• fixed payments, including in-substance payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date; 
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to 
terminate early. 

 
The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest accretion expense and decreased by the lease 
payments. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index 
or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as 
appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or renewal option is reasonably certain to be 
exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  
 
The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use-assets and lease liabilities for low-value leases. The  
Company did not elect to use the exemption which permits it to exclude right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
with a lease term of less than 12 months. The Company recognizes the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.    
    
PPPPrrrroperoperoperoperty and equipmty and equipmty and equipmty and equipmentententent    

Property and equipment are presented at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when 
replaced. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) during 
the period in which they are incurred. 
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3333....    SignificaSignificaSignificaSignificant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertant accounting policies, judgments and estimation uncertainty inty inty inty (continued)    
 
The major categories of property and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method over the following periods: 

 

Office furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or useful life 

Residual values, methods of amortization and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and adjusted if 
appropriate. Gains and losses on disposals of property and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of earnings (loss). 
 
DDDDeferreferreferreferreeeed chad chad chad chargrgrgrgeseseses    

Deferred charges consist of insurance and other long-term prepaid expenses and are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the term of the contract. 
  
 ImpaImpaImpaImpaiiiirrrrment of nonment of nonment of nonment of non----financial assfinancial assfinancial assfinancial assetsetsetsets    

Property and equipment and finite-life intangible assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  For the 
purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating units or “CGU”). The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. Value-in-use is determined by discounting estimated 
future cash flows, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current assessments of the market, of the time 
value of money and of the risks specific to the CGU.  
 
Fair value less costs to sell is determined using an EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization) multiple of comparable companies operating in similar industries for each CGU. An impairment 
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). 
 
Impairment losses recognized are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
operating segment, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the operating segment on a 
pro rata basis. Previously impaired non-financial assets are reassessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there have been changes to the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, and that these changes will be supported in the future. 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
 
For goodwill impairment testing purposes, the operating segment represents the lowest level within the 
Company at which management monitors goodwill.  
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3333....    SigSigSigSignifnifnifnifiiiicant accouncant accouncant accouncant accountingtingtingting    policies,policies,policies,policies,    judgmentjudgmentjudgmentjudgments and estimation uncertainty s and estimation uncertainty s and estimation uncertainty s and estimation uncertainty (continued)    
    
RestrucRestrucRestrucRestructuring proturing proturing proturing provisvisvisvisiiiions ons ons ons  

The Company recognizes termination benefits when employment is terminated by the Company, or when an 
employee accepts an offer of voluntary redundancy in exchange for benefits and the Company can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Company recognizes costs for a restructuring involving 
termination benefits. Benefits payable more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to their present value. 
 
Provisions, representing termination benefits, are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditures 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, and are discounted to present value where 
the effect is significant. 
    
CompCompCompCompoundoundoundound    finfinfinfinaaaancial instruments ncial instruments ncial instruments ncial instruments     

Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (“convertible debentures”) issued by the Company are 
accounted for as compound financial instruments. The liability component of a compound financial instrument 
is measured initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The 
equity component is recognized initially as the difference between the fair value of the compound financial 
instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs 
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
 
Subsequent to the initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial 
instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. 

Income taxeIncome taxeIncome taxeIncome taxessss    

Income taxes are comprised of current and deferred tax. Income taxes are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of earnings (loss), except to the extent that they relate to items recognized directly in equity, in 
which case the income taxes are also recognized directly in equity. 
 
Current income taxes are the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 
    
Deferred income taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income 
taxes are determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the consolidated statements of financial position date and are expected to apply when 
the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that the assets can be recovered. 
 
Deferred income taxes are provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures except in the cases of subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 
controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 
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3333....    SigniSigniSigniSignificant accountificant accountificant accountificant accountinnnng policies, jug policies, jug policies, jug policies, juddddgmgmgmgmeeeents ants ants ants annnnd estid estid estid estimation umation umation umation uncncncnceeeertaintrtaintrtaintrtainty y y y (continued)  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. 
 
SharSharSharShare capitae capitae capitae capitallll    

Class A Shares (“Class A Shares”) and Class B special voting shares (“Class B Shares”) are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares or options are recognized as a deduction from 
equity, net of tax, from the proceeds.  
    
DividendsDividendsDividendsDividends    

Dividends on Class A and Class B shares are recognized when the dividends are declared and approved by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. 
    
ContributeContributeContributeContributedddd    surplussurplussurplussurplus    

Contributed surplus is mostly comprised of a reserve for share-based payments recorded at fair value at the 
grant date, along with related deferred taxes and premiums paid upon share repurchases.  
 
Significant accountiSignificant accountiSignificant accountiSignificant accounting judgments and estimation ng judgments and estimation ng judgments and estimation ng judgments and estimation uuuuncerncerncerncertaintiestaintiestaintiestainties    

In applying the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required to make 
judgments (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized 
and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosures made 
in the consolidated financial statements that are not readily apparent from other sources.   
 
Estimates and judgments are significant when: 

• the outcome is highly uncertain at the time the estimates and judgments are made; and 
• if different estimates or judgments could reasonably have been used that would have had a material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s best estimates regarding the future are based on the facts and circumstances available at the 
time estimates are made. Management uses historical experience, general economic conditions and trends, as 
well as assumptions regarding probable future outcomes as the basis for determining estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  
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3333....    SiSiSiSignificant gnificant gnificant gnificant accounting paccounting paccounting paccounting policiolicioliciolicies, judges, judges, judges, judgments and estments and estments and estments and estimatioimatioimatioimation uncertainn uncertainn uncertainn uncertainty ty ty ty (continued)  
 
Actual results may differ from the estimates used, and such differences could be material. Management’s 
annual budget and long-term plan which covers a five-year period are key information for many significant 
estimates necessary to prepare these consolidated financial statements. Management prepares a budget on an 
annual basis and periodically updates its long-term plan.  Cash flows and profitability included in the budget 
and long-term plan are based on existing and expected future assets under management, general market 
conditions and current and future cost structures. The Board approves the annual budget and long-term plan.  
 
The following discusses the most significant accounting judgments and estimates that the Company has made 
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Cash generating unit 

Management is required to use judgement in determining the groupings of CGUs for the level at which 
goodwill is tested for impairment. Management has assessed that there is one operating segment, asset 
management services. For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the 
group of CGUs representing the operating segment as it is the lowest level within the Company at which 
goodwill is monitored. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually 
and whenever there is an indication at the end of a reporting period that the asset may be impaired. 
Management also assess for indicators of impairment of other intangible assets at each reporting period. If 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, an impairment test is performed by comparing the 
carrying amount of the intangible asset to its recoverable amount. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, management estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to 
which the asset belongs. Significant judgment is applied in estimating the useful lives and recoverable amounts 
of intangible assets and assessing whether certain events or circumstances constitute objective evidence of 
impairment. 
 
Share-based payments 

The Company recognizes compensation expense for cash and equity-settled transactions with employees by 
reference to the fair value of the related instruments at the date at which they are granted and for cash settled 
transactions, at each subsequent reporting date.  Estimating fair value for share-based payments requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant, which is dependent on the terms and conditions 
of the grant. This also requires making assumptions and determining the most appropriate inputs to the 
valuation model and assessing whether it is likely that the applicable performance conditions will be met and 
estimating the number of units expected to vest. 
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3333....    SigSigSigSignificant accnificant accnificant accnificant accoooountinuntinuntinunting policies, judgments ang policies, judgments ang policies, judgments ang policies, judgments and estimation ud estimation ud estimation ud estimation unnnncertcertcertcertaintyaintyaintyainty    (continued) 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amount of the operating segment is determined 
based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal calculation. This calculation requires 
assumptions and the use of estimates including growth rates for future cash flows, the number of years used in 
the cash flow model, the discount rate and other estimates.  
 
The recoverable amounts of indefinite-life intangible assets and finite-life intangible assets are based on the 
present value of the expected future cash flows, which involves making estimates about the future cash flows 
including projected attrition and growth rates which affect assets under management, discount rates and gross 
profit margin percentage. 
 
Leases 

The Company has applied judgement to determine the lease term for certain lease contracts in which it is a 
lessee when they include purchase, renewal or termination options. The assessment of whether the Company is 
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term. The Company has also applied judgment to 
determine the discount rate used to discount future lease payments. The lease terms and discount rates may 
significantly affect the carrying amount of lease liabilities and the right-of-use assets recognized.  
 
Business combinations and other transactions 

The purchase price allocation process resulting from a business combination or transaction accounted for as an 
acquisition of assets and assumed liabilities requires management to estimate the fair value of identifiable 
assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed including any contingently payable purchase 
price obligation. The Company uses valuation techniques, which are generally based on forecasted future net 
cash flows discounted to present value.  These valuations are closely linked to the assumptions used by 
management on the future performance of the related assets and the discount rates applied.  
 
Income taxes 

The calculation of income tax expense requires significant judgment in interpreting tax rules and regulations in 
multiple jurisdictions, which are subject to change. There are transactions and calculations for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities require judgment in determining the amounts to be recognized. Significant 
judgment is required when assessing the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences to which future tax 
rates are applied. The recognition of deferred tax assets, which is limited to the amount that is probable to be 
realized, is estimated with consideration given to the timing, sources and level of future taxable profit. 
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4.4.4.4. BBBBusineusineusineusinesssss cs cs cs coooombmbmbmbinationinationinationinationssss    and oand oand oand other ther ther ther transacttransacttransacttransactionsionsionsions    

PPPPaaaallllmmmmeeeer r r r CaCaCaCapipipipittttal al al al     

On April 3, 2019, Fiera Real Estate (formerly Fiera Properties Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, acquired an 80% interest in Palmer Capital Partners Limited (“Palmer Capital”), a UK focused real 
estate investment manager based in London, United Kingdom.  
 
The total purchase consideration of $52,285 (Great British Pounds (GBP) 30,200) included $35,310 
(GBP 20,200) paid in cash to the sellers and the issuance of 1,430,036 Class A Shares, representing $16,975 
(GBP 10,000) based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the closing date. The purchase 
consideration remains subject to post-closing price adjustments. The Company financed the cash portion of the 
purchase consideration with its revolving Credit Facility (Note 16).  
 
The sellers retain a 20% equity interest in Palmer Capital. Under the terms of the share purchase agreement, 
the non-controlling interest shareholders of Palmer Capital have a put right and Fiera Real Estate has a call 
right on the 20% non-controlling interest.  The put and call rights are described in Note 13 f). 
 
The transaction was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method and the final 
purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value 
at the acquisition date as follows:   
 
 $$$$    
Cash  19,014 
Other current assets 7,317 
Property and equipment 191 
Investments in joint ventures and associates 10,779 
Long-term investments 8,599 
Right-of-use assets 685 
Goodwill (nil deductible for tax purposes)  26,616 
Intangible assets  6,093 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (10,969) 
Lease liabilities (578) 
Deferred income tax liabilities (2,225) 

 66665,525,525,525,522222    

 
PuPuPuPurchrchrchrchaaaase considerationse considerationse considerationse consideration    $ 
Cash consideration 35,310 
Share capital 16,975 
Non-controlling interest puttable financial instrument liability 13,237 

 66665555,,,,555522222222    

 

Goodwill is attributable to an experienced real estate investment management team. Identified intangible 
assets acquired from Palmer Capital have been accounted for separately from goodwill. These intangible assets 
include finite life management contracts valued at $6,093. 
 
The Company incurred acquisition-related costs of $4,050 mainly composed of legal, financial advisor fees and 
due diligence costs. These costs were included in acquisition costs in the consolidated statements of earnings 
(loss).  
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4.4.4.4. BBBBusiusiusiusiness combness combness combness combinations and other transactinations and other transactinations and other transactinations and other transactions ions ions ions (continued)    

PPPPaaaallllmmmmeeeer r r r CaCaCaCapipipipittttal al al al (continued)    

Pro forma impPro forma impPro forma impPro forma impactactactact    

The impact of the acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2019 on the Company’s revenues and net 
earnings (loss) was as follows: 
 
 $$$$    

Revenues 13,414 
Net earnings (loss) 1,392 

 
If the business combination would have occurred on January 1, 2019, the Company’s consolidated revenues and 
net earnings (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2019 would have been as follows: 
 
 $$$$    

Revenues 660,885 
Net earnings (loss) (11,479) 

    
The Company considers the pro forma figures to be an approximate measurement of the financial performance 
of the combined businesses over a twelve-month period and that they provide a baseline against which to 
compare the financial performance of future periods. 
 
The above pro forma net earnings (loss) includes selling, general and administrative expense, amortization of 
tangible and intangible assets, interest on long-term debt and the elimination of the acquisition, restructuring 
and integration costs, as well as related tax effects. The pro forma information includes an estimate of the 
amortization of intangible assets calculated based on the initial allocation of the purchase price to the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  
 
IAMIAMIAMIAM    

On July 3, 2019, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of Integrated Asset Management 
Corp. (“IAM”), a Canadian alternative investment asset management company.  
 
The total purchase consideration transferred at closing to the sellers was $84,290. It included $55,500 paid in 
cash and the issuance of 1,614,297 Class A Shares, representing $18,338 based on the closing price of the 
Company’s shares on the closing date. The purchase consideration was subject to an initial purchase price 
adjustment of $2,585 recorded as a reduction of the total purchase consideration. The Company financed the 
cash portion of the purchase consideration with its revolving Credit Facility (Note 16) and from the proceeds 
from the issuance of Hybrid debentures (Note 17).  
 
At the closing date of the transaction, each IAM shareholder received one Contingent Value Right (“CVR”) for 
each IAM common share. The 28,726,345 CVRs will entitle the holders to receive their pro rata share of 75% of 
the aggregate amount of incentive fees (net of certain employee bonuses, taxes and expenses) that may be 
received in the future from two real estate funds managed by the Company. One of the real estate funds is 
scheduled to mature in 2020 and the other one in 2024. The total purchase consideration includes the fair 
value of the CVRs at the acquisition date.  
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4.4.4.4. BusineBusineBusineBusinesssss cos cos cos combinations and otmbinations and otmbinations and otmbinations and otheheheher trr trr trr transactansactansactansactions ions ions ions (continued)    

IAMIAMIAMIAM    (continued) 
 
The transaction was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method and the final 
purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair 
value at the acquisition date as follows:     

 $$$$    
Cash  10,292 
Other current assets 14,534 
Property and equipment 91 
Long-term investments 1,054 
Right-of-use assets 2,747 
Goodwill (nil deductible for tax purposes)  43,038 
Intangible assets  25,428 
Other non-current assets 6,654 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (7,437) 
Lease liabilities (3,348) 
Other non-current liabilities (1,794) 
Deferred income tax liability (9,375) 
Non-controlling interest (179) 

 88881,7051,7051,7051,705    

 
Purchase consPurchase consPurchase consPurchase considerideriderideraaaationtiontiontion    $ 
Cash consideration 55,500 
Share capital 18,338 
Purchase price adjustments (2,585) 
Contingent Value Rights 10,452 

 88881,7051,7051,7051,705    

    

Goodwill is attributable to established real estate and private debt investment management teams. Identified 
intangible assets acquired are accounted for separately from goodwill. These intangible assets include finite life 
management contracts valued at $25,077 and software intangibles of $351. 
 
The Company incurred acquisition-related costs of $3,111 mainly composed of legal, financial advisor fees and 
due diligence costs. These costs were included in acquisition costs in the consolidated statements of earnings 
(loss).  
    
Pro forPro forPro forPro formamamama    impactimpactimpactimpact    

The impact of the business acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2019 on the Company’s revenues and 
net earnings (loss) was as follows: 
 
 $$$$    

Revenues 10,228 
Net earnings (loss) (61) 
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4.4.4.4. BusinesBusinesBusinesBusiness combinations and os combinations and os combinations and os combinations and othethethetherrrr    transactiontransactiontransactiontransactionssss    (continued)    

IAMIAMIAMIAM    (continued) 
 
If the business combination would have occurred on January 1, 2019, the Company’s consolidated revenues and 
net earnings (loss) for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2019 would have been as follows: 
 
 $$$$    

Revenues 665,416 
Net earnings (loss) (10,911) 

    
The Company considers the pro forma figures to be an approximate measurement of the financial performance 
of the combined businesses over a twelve-month period and that they provide a baseline against which to 
compare the financial performance of future periods. 
 
The above pro forma net earnings (loss) includes selling, general and administrative expense, amortization of 
tangible and intangible assets, interest on long-term debt and the elimination of the acquisition, restructuring 
and integration costs, as well as related tax effects. The pro forma information includes an estimate of the 
amortization of intangible assets calculated based on the initial allocation of the purchase price to the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. 
 
OOOOthththther er er er ttttrrrranananansasasasactctctctiiiioooonnnnssss    
    
On July 3, 2019, the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of Natixis Investment Managers 
Canada Corp. (“Natixis Canada”), the holding company of Natixis Investment Managers Canada LP 
(“Natixis LP”), acting as the investment fund manager of publicly and privately distributed investment funds. 
This acquisition transaction is part of a broader strategy between the Company and Natixis Canada, which 
includes a distribution agreement and a share repurchase and cancellation transaction (Note 18). The 
transaction was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method and the initial purchase 
price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value at the 
acquisition date.  
 
On August 16, 2019, the Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of Foresters Asset 
Management Inc. (“Foresters”), an Ontario-based investment management firm. The transaction was 
accounted for as an acquisition of assets and assumed liabilities and the initial purchase price was allocated to 
the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated relative fair values at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent to the acquisition date, Foresters was renamed Fiera Capital Fund Management Inc. (“FCFM”). 
 
The total purchase consideration for these transactions of $31,652 included $24,638 paid in cash to the sellers 
and a contingent purchase price obligation of $6,918 which will be payable to the sellers if certain terms and 
conditions are met. The purchase consideration was subject to net working capital adjustment of $96 which 
was settled before December 31, 2019 and is recorded as an increase of the total purchase consideration. The 
Company financed the cash portion of the purchase consideration with its revolving Credit Facility (Note 16) 
and from the proceeds from the issuance of the Hybrid debentures (Note 17).  
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4.4.4.4. BBBBusinusinusinusinesesesesssss    comcomcomcombinations and obinations and obinations and obinations and other tther tther tther transactionsransactionsransactionsransactions    (continued)    

OtOtOtOthhhher transaer transaer transaer transactions ctions ctions ctions (continued) 

The estimated fair value at the acquisition date of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is as follows:     
 
 $$$$    
Cash  9,181 
Short-term investments 155 
Other current assets 5,793 
Property and equipment 467 
Right-of-use assets 1,681 
Deferred income tax asset 5,622 
Goodwill (nil deductible for tax purposes)  419 
Intangible assets  19,646 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (9,631) 
Lease liabilities (1,681) 

 31313131,,,,652652652652    

 

Goodwill is attributable to an experienced team knowledgeable in investment advisory and investment 
management and related services. Identified intangible assets acquired have been accounted for separately 
from goodwill. These intangible assets include customer relationships valued at $14,868 and asset 
management contracts valued at $4,778. 
 
In relation to the Foresters transaction and the Natixis Canada transaction which includes a distribution 
agreement, a share repurchase and cancellation transaction between the Company and Natixis and the 
acquisition of all the issued and outstanding shares of Natixis Canada, the Company incurred transaction costs 
totaling $4,233 which are mainly composed of legal, financial advisor fees and due diligence costs.  
 
Pro formaPro formaPro formaPro forma    impactimpactimpactimpact    

The impact of the business acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2019 on the Company’s revenues and 
net earnings (loss) was as follows: 
 
 $$$$    

Revenues 9,635 
Net earnings (loss) 2,176 

 
If the business combination would have occurred on January 1, 2019, the Company’s consolidated revenues and 
net earnings (loss) for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2019 would have been as follows: 
 
 $$$$    

Revenues 666,277 
Net earnings (loss) (10,784) 
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4.4.4.4. BBBBuuuusiness siness siness siness combicombicombicombinations nations nations nations andandandand    otototother her her her trantrantrantransasasasactions ctions ctions ctions (continued)    

The Company considers the pro forma figures to be an approximate measurement of the financial performance 
of the combined businesses over a twelve-month period and that they provide a baseline against which to 
compare the financial performance of future periods. 
 
The above pro forma net earnings (loss) includes selling, general and administrative expense, amortization of 
tangible and intangible assets, interest on long-term debt and the elimination of the acquisition, restructuring 
and integration costs, as well as related tax effects. The pro forma information includes an estimate of the 
amortization of intangible assets calculated based on the initial allocation of the purchase price to the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  
 
DispDispDispDisposal of Fieraosal of Fieraosal of Fieraosal of Fiera    CapitalCapitalCapitalCapital    FunFunFunFunds Inds Inds Inds Inc.c.c.c.    

On February 22, 2019, the Company closed the sale transaction entered into with Canoe Financial LP (Canoe), a 
Canadian mutual fund company, pursuant to which the Company sold its interest in Fiera Capital Funds Inc., 
and nine retail mutual funds to Canoe who became the trustee, manager and portfolio manager of these funds, 
for total cash consideration of $12,075.  
 
As a result of this transaction, the Company reclassified intangible assets of $5,280 during the year ended 
December 31, 2018, goodwill of $6,543 of which $176 was derecognized during the year ended December 31, 
2019 ($6,367 during the year ended December 31, 2018) and other assets of $364 of which $27 was 
derecognized during the year ended December 31, 2019 ($337 during the year ended December 31, 2018). The 
Company recorded a net loss before tax of $1,476 (including transaction costs of $1,364), of which $300 was 
recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) during the year ended December 31, 2019 as a loss on 
disposal of assets. For tax purposes, the sale resulted in a taxable capital gain with a current income tax expense 
of $483 and a deferred tax expense of $1,206.  
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5. 5. 5. 5.     RestructRestructRestructRestructuriuriuriuring, ng, ng, ng, integrintegrintegrintegration and oation and oation and oation and other ther ther ther ccccostsostsostsosts    

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company recorded the following: 

 2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 
Restructuring provisions related to severance 11,11,11,11,777752525252    3,627 
Other restructuring costs 399399399399    783 
Integration and other costs 2,3882,3882,3882,388    3,176 

 11114444,5,5,5,539393939    7,586 

Restructuring charges are mainly composed of severance costs due to corporate reorganizations following 
business combinations and other transactions or as a result of the normal evolution of the business. The change 
in the restructuring provisions for severance-related expenses during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2018 is as follows: 

    

 
Integration and other costs 

Integration costs are mainly composed of professional fees, relocation and lease related costs and other 
expenses incurred as a result of the integration of businesses recently acquired.  
 

         SevSevSevSeveeeerrrranceanceanceance    

         $$$$    
Balance, December 31, 2017   5,988 
Additions during the year, net   3,627 
Paid during the year   (6,611) 
Balance, December 31, 2018   3,0043,0043,0043,004    
Additions during the year, net   11111111,752,752,752,752    
Paid during the year   ((((11111111,,,,333372727272))))    
BalBalBalBalance,ance,ance,ance,    DDDDecembeecembeecembeecemberrrr    31, 31, 31, 31, 2020202011119999            3,33,33,33,384848484    

          

Provision for severance  
AsAsAsAs    atatatat    

        December December December December 33331, 1, 1, 1, 2222010101019999    
As at 

  December 31, 2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Current portion  3,1593,1593,1593,159    2,289 
Non-current portion  225225225225    715 
Total  3,383,383,383,384444    3,004 
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6.6.6.6. IIIInnnnvestmentsvestmentsvestmentsvestments    

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries as at 
December 31, 2019 and 2018.  The significant operating subsidiaries are set out in the table below. All principal 
activities of these subsidiaries are asset management. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital solely in 
ordinary shares that are held directly or indirectly by the Company.  

NNNNameameameame    

PercentagPercentagPercentagPercentage of equity ie of equity ie of equity ie of equity interest attribunterest attribunterest attribunterest attributable table table table 
tttto the Company o the Company o the Company o the Company     

    

DirectDirectDirectDirect    IndIndIndIndirectirectirectirect        
2012012012019999    2012012012018888    2012012012019999    2012012012018888        

         
Clearwater Capital Partners Hong Kong Limited  − − 100% 100%     
Fiera Real Estate Investments limited (formerly Fiera Properties  

Limited) 
 

− 
 

100% 100% − 
    

Fiera Capital (IOM) Limited  − − 100% 100%     
Fiera Capital (UK) Limited  − − 100% 100%     
Fiera Capital Inc. − − 100% 100%     
Fiera Comox Partners Inc. 60.4% 60.4% − −     
Fiera Infrastructure Inc. 75% 75% − −     
Bel Air Investment Advisors LLC − − 100% 100%     
Bel Air Securities LLC − − 100% 100%     
Fiera Capital Funds Inc. (1) − 100% − −     
Fiera Private Debt Inc. (formerly Fiera Private Lending Inc.) − 100% 100% −     
Fiera Investments LP 100% − − −     
Fiera Real Estate UK Limited (formerly Palmer Capital Partners 

 Limited) − − 80% − 
    

(1) On February 22, 2019, the Company sold its interest in Fiera Capital Funds Inc. (Note 4) 
 

7.7.7.7. StruStruStruStructurecturecturectured entitid entitid entitid entitieseseses    

Unconsolidated structured entities 

The Company manages several investment funds which are unconsolidated structured entities. These 
investment funds are open-ended and closed-ended investment companies, mutual funds, limited partnerships, 
pooled funds or other investment entities which invest in a range of assets.  Segregated mandates managed on 
behalf of clients and investment trusts are not considered structured entities. The structured entities are 
generally financed by the issue of units or shares to investors, although certain funds, mainly property, 
infrastructure and private equity funds, are also permitted to raise financing through loans from third parties. 
The Company does not provide a guarantee for the repayment of any borrowings held by these entities and did 
not provide financial support to unconsolidated structured entities during the years ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018. 
 
The Company generates revenues from management and other fees from providing investment management 
and related services to these investment funds.  The fees from these investment funds are calculated based on 
assets under management or on committed capital. Investment funds are susceptible to market price risk 
arising from uncertainties about future value of the assets they hold.  Market risks are discussed in Note 13 – 
Financial instruments. 
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7.7.7.7. StruStruStruStructured entitictured entitictured entitictured entitieseseses    (continued)    
 
The following table summarizes the carrying value of the Company’s interests in unconsolidated structured 
entities recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position and the assets under management of 
unconsolidated structured entities as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company’s maximum exposure to 
loss is the carrying amount of the investment funds held and the loss of future fees. 

                
As at As at As at As at     

DecDecDecDecember 31ember 31ember 31ember 31, , , , 2222000011119999    
As at  

December 31, 2018    

                $$$$    $ 
Company’s ownership interest in investment funds      8,4008,4008,4008,400    4,494 
Assets under management of unconsolidated 

structured entities     43.043.043.043.0    billionbillionbillionbillion    34.0 billion 

 
Investment in managed funds 

In its capacity as fund manager, the Company has the ability to direct the activities of the funds that it manages 
through its involvement in the decision-making process. When the Company is also exposed to the variable 
returns as the principal unitholder and is deemed to control the fund, the fund is consolidated. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold a direct holding in a fund that it previously 
controlled and therefore consolidated. Previous to the redemption of fund units, the Company had classified 
the net assets of the fund as assets held-for-sale in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

During the period in which the Company controlled the funds, the redeemable units owned by other 
unitholders were presented as amounts due to holders of redeemable units in the Company’s consolidated 
statement of financial position since the units are redeemable at the option of the holders. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company revalued the underlying investment to fair value and 
recorded a gain of $699, recognized as revaluation of assets held-for-sale. 
 
 

8.8.8.8. InveInveInveInvesssstments in tments in tments in tments in joint venturejoint venturejoint venturejoint venturessss    and and and and associates associates associates associates     

The Company has ownership interests in a number of individually insignificant joint ventures and associates 
that are accounted for using the equity method. The Company’s risks are limited to the carrying value of its 
investments in joint ventures and associates. The following table presents the change in carrying values  of the 
Company’s investments in joint ventures and associates during the year: 
  

    

AAAAssocssocssocssociaiaiaiatttteseseses    JoiJoiJoiJoint vnt vnt vnt venturesenturesenturesentures    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

    $ $ $ 

             
2012012012019999                
Opening carrying amount −−−−    −    −    
Share of earnings −−−−    6666,,,,047047047047    6,0476,0476,0476,047    
Additions −−−−    3,6163,6163,6163,616    3,6163,6163,6163,616    
Business combination  542542542542    11110000,,,,222237373737    11110000,,,,779779779779    
Distributions received −−−−    (9,16(9,16(9,16(9,161)1)1)1)    (9,161)(9,161)(9,161)(9,161)    
Foreign exchange differences (11)(11)(11)(11)    (2(2(2(233335555))))    (2(2(2(244446666))))    
Closing carrying amount 531531531531    11110000,,,,504504504504    11111111,,,,035035035035    
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9.9.9.9. TradTradTradTrade and other ree and other ree and other ree and other recccceivableseivableseivableseivables    

    
As atAs atAs atAs at    

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, 2012012012019999    
As at 

December 31, 2018 

 $$$$    $ 

      
Trade accounts  150,801150,801150,801150,801    120,980 
Trade accounts – related companies of shareholders 7,1747,1747,1747,174    15,006 
Trade accounts – related parties 1,2261,2261,2261,226    8,824 

Rent receivable 1,041,041,041,043333    − 
Other 16,76916,76916,76916,769    3,649 

 111177777,0137,0137,0137,013    148,459 

The aging of accounts receivable is as follows: 

    
As at As at As at As at     

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, 2012012012019999    
As at 

December 31, 2018 

    $$$$    $ 

Trade       
 Current 139,95139,95139,95139,956666    113,359 

 Aged between 61 – 119 days 6,4526,4526,4526,452    5,256 

 Aged greater than 120 days 4444,39,39,39,393333    2,365 

Total trade 150,80150,80150,80150,801111    120,980 
      

Related companies of shareholders and related parties       
Current 7,3137,3137,3137,313    23,811 

Aged between 61 – 119 days 8888    10 

Aged greater than 120 days 1,0791,0791,0791,079    9 

Total related companies of shareholders and related parties 8,8,8,8,400400400400    23,830 

Rent receivable and Other 11117777,,,,812812812812    3,649 

 111177777,0137,0137,0137,013    148,459 

 
As at December 31, 2019, there was a provision for expected credit losses of $119 (2018 - $119). 
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10.10.10.10. GGGGoodwill and oodwill and oodwill and oodwill and iiiintangibntangibntangibntangible le le le aaaassetsssetsssetsssets        

Goodwill    

 Indefinite life Finite-life 

Total    

 Asset 
management 

contracts 

Asset 
management 

contracts 
Customer 

relationships Other 
    $  $ $ $ $ $ 

        
For the year ended December 31, 2018        
Opening carrying amount 523,885  84,069 53,909 311,832 12,471 462,281 
Additions −  − − 3,902 946 4,848 
Additions – internally developed −  − − − 6,578 6,578 
Reclassification to assets held-for-sale (6,367)  (5,280) − − − (5,280) 
Business combinations 95,606  513 16,878 60,000 3,009 80,400 
Disposals −  − − − (26) (26) 
Amortization for the year −  − (11,791) (28,021) (5,001) (44,813) 
Foreign exchange difference 18,575  6,841 2,272 15,380 581 25,074 
Closing carrying amount 631,699  86,143 61,268 363,093 18,558 529,062 

        
Balance, December 31, 2018        
Cost 604,086  80,965 122,544 458,259 35,856 697,624 
Accumulated amortization and 

impairment (1,918)  − (62,730) (119,910) (18,332) (200,972) 
Foreign exchange difference 29,531  5,178 1,454 24,744 1,034 32,410 
Closing carrying amount 631,699  86,143 61,268 363,093 18,558 529,062 

                             
For the year ended December 31, For the year ended December 31, For the year ended December 31, For the year ended December 31, 2012012012019999                                
Opening carrying amount 631,699631,699631,699631,699        86,14386,14386,14386,143    61616161,,,,268268268268    333363636363,,,,000099993333    18,18,18,18,558558558558    529,062529,062529,062529,062    
Additions −        −    −    15,70915,70915,70915,709    230230230230    15,93915,93915,93915,939    
Additions – internally developed −        −    −    −    4444,,,,626626626626    4,6264,6264,6264,626    
Reclassification to assets held-for-sale (176)(176)(176)(176)        − −    −    −    −    
Business combinations 70707070,,,,073073073073        5,5,5,5,190190190190    33331,1701,1701,1701,170    −    351351351351    33336,7116,7116,7116,711    
Disposals −        −    (39(39(39(397)7)7)7)    −    (828)(828)(828)(828)    (1,225)(1,225)(1,225)(1,225)    
Amortization for the year −        −    ((((15151515,,,,823823823823))))    ((((30303030,1,1,1,143434343))))    (7,(7,(7,(7,009009009009))))    (52,97(52,97(52,97(52,975555))))    
Foreign exchange difference ((((13131313,,,,697697697697))))        (4,215)(4,215)(4,215)(4,215)    (1,70(1,70(1,70(1,702)2)2)2)    ((((8,788,788,788,787)7)7)7)    (55(55(55(554444))))    (15,(15,(15,(15,252525258888))))    
Closing carrying amount 686868687777,,,,899899899899        88887,1187,1187,1187,118    74747474,,,,516516516516    333339393939,,,,872872872872    11115555,,,,374374374374    515151516666,,,,880880880880    

                             
Balance, DeBalance, DeBalance, DeBalance, December 31, 201cember 31, 201cember 31, 201cember 31, 2019999                                
Cost 676767673333,,,,983983983983        88886,16,16,16,155555555    153,304153,304153,304153,304    473,473,473,473,968968968968    39,09839,09839,09839,098    757575752,5252,5252,5252,525    
Accumulated amortization and 

impairment (1,918)(1,918)(1,918)(1,918)        −    ((((78787878,,,,540540540540))))    (1(1(1(150505050,,,,053053053053))))    (2(2(2(24444,,,,205205205205))))    (252(252(252(252,79,79,79,798)8)8)8)    
Foreign exchange difference 15,83415,83415,83415,834        963963963963    (248(248(248(248))))    15,9515,9515,9515,957777    481481481481    17,15317,15317,15317,153    
Closing carrying amount 686868687777,,,,899899899899        88887,1187,1187,1187,118    74747474,,,,516516516516    333339393939,,,,872872872872    15151515,,,,374374374374    515151516,8806,8806,8806,880    
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11110000....    GoGoGoGoodwill and intangible assets odwill and intangible assets odwill and intangible assets odwill and intangible assets (continued) 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred development costs related to new 
internally-developed software. The costs that have been capitalized are presented as additions – internally 
developed. 
 
Goodwill is monitored by management based on the Company’s only operating segment: asset management. In 
assessing goodwill for impairment as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company compared the aggregate 
recoverable amount of the operating segment to the carrying amount.  The recoverable amount has been 
determined based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal using five-year cash flow 
budgets and forecasts approved by management and the Board. These make use of observable market inputs 
when available. Cash flows beyond the five-year budget are determined using an expected long-term growth rate 
of 2.5%.  Key assumptions included the following: 
 
 

        2012012012019999    2018 

                             %%%%         % 

          
Weighted average revenue growth rate  10101010....5555    11.0 

Discount rate  11114444.0.0.0.0    11.0 

 

Reasonable changes in key assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of goodwill to fall below the 
carrying value. 
 
Impairment tests of indefinite-life intangible assets 

In assessing indefinite-life intangible assets for impairment as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company 
compared the aggregate recoverable amount of the assets to their respective carrying amounts. Key assumptions 
included the following: 

 

    2012012012019999    2018 

    %%%%    % 

      
Weighted average revenue growth rate 15.015.015.015.0    13.6 
Discount rate 27.527.527.527.5    25.5 
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10101010. . . . GGGGoodoodoodoodwill awill awill awill and intangible assets nd intangible assets nd intangible assets nd intangible assets (continued)    

The recoverable amount has been determined based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost of 
disposal using five-year cash flow budgets and forecasts approved by management and the Board. These make use 
of observable market inputs when available. Cash flows beyond the five-year budget are determined using an 
expected long-term growth rate of 2.5%. The discount rate is derived from the weighted average cost of capital.  
 
Reasonable changes in key assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of indefinite life intangible 
assets to fall below the carrying value.  
 
As a result of the impairment analysis, the Company determined that the recoverable amounts exceeded the 
carrying amounts and therefore, there was no impairment. 

11111111. . . . ProProProProperty and equipmentperty and equipmentperty and equipmentperty and equipment    

    

OffiOffiOffiOffice furniture ce furniture ce furniture ce furniture 

& equipme& equipme& equipme& equipmentntntnt    
Computer Computer Computer Computer 

eeeeququququipmentipmentipmentipment    

LeaseholdLeaseholdLeaseholdLeasehold    

imprimprimprimprovovovovemeemeemeementsntsntsnts    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

    $ $ $ $ 

                 

For the year ended December 31, 2018     
Opening carrying amount 3,183 2,529 10,860 16,572 
Additions 372 1,180 1,405 2,957 
Business combinations 147 93 8 248 
Disposals  (45) (11) − (56) 
Depreciation  (931) (1,325) (1,979) (4,235) 
Foreign exchange difference 191 108 714 1,013 
Closing carrying amount 2,917 2,574 11,008 16,499 

     
Balance, December 31, 2018     
Cost 7,937 6,770 19,295 34,002 
Accumulated depreciation (5,085) (4,340) (8,379) (17,804) 
Foreign exchange difference 65 144 92 301 
Closing carrying amount 2,917 2,574 11,008 16,499 

                    
For the year endeFor the year endeFor the year endeFor the year ended Deced Deced Deced December 31, 201mber 31, 201mber 31, 201mber 31, 2019999                    
Opening carrying amount 2,9172,9172,9172,917    2,5742,5742,5742,574    11,00811,00811,00811,008    16,49916,49916,49916,499    
Additions 3,0163,0163,0163,016    2,2,2,2,444450505050    11,71611,71611,71611,716    17,1817,1817,1817,182222    
Business combinations 42424242    199199199199    508508508508    777749494949    
Disposals  ((((48484848))))    (6)(6)(6)(6)    −−−−    (54)(54)(54)(54)    
Depreciation  (1,201)(1,201)(1,201)(1,201)    (1,651)(1,651)(1,651)(1,651)    (2,(2,(2,(2,355)355)355)355)    (5,207)(5,207)(5,207)(5,207)    
Foreign exchange difference (99)(99)(99)(99)    (51)(51)(51)(51)    324324324324    174174174174    
Closing carrying amount 4,6274,6274,6274,627    3,5153,5153,5153,515    21,21,21,21,222201010101    29,3429,3429,3429,343333    

                 
BalanBalanBalanBalance, December 31, 2ce, December 31, 2ce, December 31, 2ce, December 31, 2010101019999                     
Cost 10,79110,79110,79110,791    9,4119,4119,4119,411    29,229,229,229,231313131    49494949,433,433,433,433    
Accumulated depreciation ((((6,130)6,130)6,130)6,130)    (5,989)(5,989)(5,989)(5,989)    (8,446)(8,446)(8,446)(8,446)    (20,565)(20,565)(20,565)(20,565)    
Foreign exchange difference (34)(34)(34)(34)    93939393    416416416416    475475475475    
Closing carrying amount 4,64,64,64,627272727    3,5153,5153,5153,515    21,20121,20121,20121,201    29,3429,3429,3429,343333    
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12.12.12.12. LeasesLeasesLeasesLeases    

The Company mainly leases offices. Rental contracts are typically entered into for fixed periods but may have 
extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but right-of-use assets may not be used as 
security for borrowing purposes.  
 
Right-of-use assets 

    

RightRightRightRight----ofofofof----useuseuseuse    assetsassetsassetsassets    

    $ 

     
FoFoFoFor the year ended December 31r the year ended December 31r the year ended December 31r the year ended December 31, 201, 201, 201, 2019999        
Right-of-use assets recognized as at January 1, 2019 117,268117,268117,268117,268    
Additions 22,20822,20822,20822,208    
Lease modifications and adjustments 1,7851,7851,7851,785    
Business combinations 5,5,5,5,111113131313    

Depreciation  (1(1(1(19,929,929,929,923)3)3)3)    

Derecognition  (431)(431)(431)(431)    

Foreign exchange difference (2,62(2,62(2,62(2,628888))))    

Closing carrying amount 123,123,123,123,393939392222    

     
Balance, DecBalance, DecBalance, DecBalance, Deceeeemmmmber 31, 201ber 31, 201ber 31, 201ber 31, 2019999         
Cost 141414145,4195,4195,4195,419    

Accumulated depreciation (1(1(1(19,405)9,405)9,405)9,405)    

Foreign exchange difference (2,62(2,62(2,62(2,622222))))    

Closing carrying amount 123,39123,39123,39123,392222    

Lease liabilities 

The Company’s lease agreements expire at different dates until 2035. Total lease payments for each of 
the next five years, and thereafter, are as follows: 

    $$$$    

2020 19,09919,09919,09919,099    

2021 21,00421,00421,00421,004    

2022 18,86218,86218,86218,862    

2023  20202020,1,1,1,107070707    

2024 16161616,78,78,78,786666    

Thereafter 83,4283,4283,4283,428888    

 179179179179,,,,282828286666    

Less : interest (34,470)(34,470)(34,470)(34,470)    

Total lease liabilitiesTotal lease liabilitiesTotal lease liabilitiesTotal lease liabilities,,,,    net of rent receivablenet of rent receivablenet of rent receivablenet of rent receivable    144,81144,81144,81144,816666    
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12.12.12.12. LeasesLeasesLeasesLeases    (continued)    

Extension options 

Some leases contain extension options exercisable by the Company. The Company assesses at the lease 
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. Extension options are only 
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. Potential future cash outflows of 
$29,753 from 2020 to 2040 have not been included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain that 
these extension options will be exercised. 

Lease commitments 

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Company entered into two lease contracts for offices expiring in 2030 and 
2034. The total payments for each of the next five years, and thereafter for these leases are as follows: 

    $$$$    

2020 525252524444    

2021 1,8631,8631,8631,863    

2022  2,4812,4812,4812,481    

2023 2,5492,5492,5492,549    

2024 2,5832,5832,5832,583    

Thereafter 26,26,26,26,378378378378    

     36,36,36,36,378378378378    

13.13.13.13. Financial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instruments    

The Company, through its financial assets and liabilities, has exposure to the following risks from its financial 
instruments: market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and liquidity risk. The following analysis 
provides a measurement risk as at December 31, 2019 and 2018.   
 
The Company’s business is the management of investment assets. The key performance driver of the Company’s 
ongoing results is the level of AUM. The level of AUM is directly linked to investment returns and the Company’s 
ability to attract and retain clients. 
 
The Company’s consolidated statements of financial position includes a portfolio of investments. The value of 
these investments is subject to a number of risk factors.  
 
Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates, equity 
market fluctuations and other relevant market rate or price changes. Market risk is directly influenced by the 
volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the related underlying assets are traded. Below is a discussion of the 
Company’s primary market risk exposures and how these exposures are managed. 
 
Appreciation or depreciation in the fair value of equity securities affect the amount and timing of recognition of 
gains and losses on equity securities and investment funds in the Company’s portfolio resulting in changes in 
realized and unrealized gains and losses. General economic conditions, political conditions and many other factors 
can also adversely affect the stock and bond markets and, consequently, the fair value of the equity, investment 
fund and fixed income financial assets held. 
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11113333....    Financial instrumeFinancial instrumeFinancial instrumeFinancial instruments nts nts nts (continued) 
 
The Company’s portfolio managers monitor the risks of the portfolio as part of its daily operations. The 
Company’s portfolio of equity and equity-related securities as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is comprised of 
investment funds and other securities with a fair value of $8,400 as at December 31, 2019 and $4,857 as at 
December 31, 2018. Investment funds are comprised of a well-diversified portfolio of investments in equities and 
bonds.  
 
A 10% change in the fair value of the Company’s equity and equity-related holdings as at December 31, 2019 and 
2018 would have an impact of increasing or decreasing comprehensive income by $840 and $486 respectively. 
 
Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial 
loss to another party. The Company’s principal financial assets which are subject to credit risk are cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, investments and trade and other receivables. The carrying 
amounts of financial assets on the consolidated statements of financial position, other than derivative financial 
instruments represent the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the consolidated statements of 
financial position dates. 
 
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents is limited because the 
counterparties are commercial banks or financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by independent 
credit-rating agencies. 
 
The Company’s credit risk is attributable primarily to its trade receivables. The amounts disclosed in the 
consolidated statements of financial position are net of expected credit losses, estimated by the Company’s 
management based on previous experience and its assessment of the current economic environment and financial 
condition of the counterparties.  In order to reduce its risk, management has adopted credit policies that include 
regular review of client balances. No customer represents more than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable 
as at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its cash and cash equivalents and long-term debt. The 
interest rates on the long-term debt are variable and expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk.   
 
The Company manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest 
rate swaps have the economic effect of converting debt from floating rates to fixed rates. The Company obtained 
its long-term debt at a floating rate and swapped a portion of it into fixed rates that were lower than those 
available if the Company borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate swap contracts, the Company 
agrees with the counterparty to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between the fixed contract rate 
and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional amounts. 
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11113333....    FFFFinancial instrumeinancial instrumeinancial instrumeinancial instruments nts nts nts (continued) 
 
Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Company’s exposure relates to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, 
accounts receivable, investments, derivative financial instruments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
puttable financial instrument liability, purchase price obligations and long-term debt. The Company manages a 
portion of its exposure to foreign currency by matching asset and liability positions. More specifically, the 
Company matches the long-term debt in foreign currency with long-term assets in the same currency. 
 
The consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 include the following 
amounts expressed in Canadian dollars with respect to the net financial assets (liabilities) for which cash flows are 
denominated in the following currencies: 
 

    2012012012019999    2018 

CuCuCuCurrencyrrencyrrencyrrency            $$$$    $ 
USD         (446,2(446,2(446,2(446,277777777))))    (335,203) 
GBP         ((((17,162)17,162)17,162)17,162)    − 

Based on the balances outstanding (excluding long-term debt) as at December 31, 2019, a 5% strengthening or 
weakening of the US dollar versus the Canadian dollar would result in an increase or decrease in total 
comprehensive income of $1,364 (2018 - $1,794).  A 5% strengthening or weakening of the GBP versus the 
Canadian dollar would result in an increase or decrease in total comprehensive income of $858 (2018 – nil).  The 
above calculation does not include the US dollar long-term debt, which is partially hedged by a long-term asset in 
the same currency. This long-term asset is not included in the consolidated statements of financial position given 
that it is an intercompany balance and is eliminated on consolidation. 
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11113333....    FinancialFinancialFinancialFinancial    ininininstrumestrumestrumestruments nts nts nts (continued) 

Liquidity risk 

The Company’s objective is to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they become due. The Company 
monitors its cash and cash equivalents balance and cash flows generated from operations to meet its 
requirements. 
 
The Company generates enough cash from its operating activities and has sufficient available financing through its 
long-term debt to finance its activities and to respect its obligations as they become due. 
 
The Company has the following financial instrument liabilities as at December 31, 2019: 
 

                CCCCoooontntntntractractractractuauauaual cash flow commitmel cash flow commitmel cash flow commitmel cash flow commitmentsntsntsnts    

    
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 
amountamountamountamount    2020202020202020    2022022022021111    2022022022022222    2022022022023333    2022022022024444    OtherOtherOtherOther    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

 $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    
Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 207207207207,,,,447447447447    207,207,207,207,447447447447    −    −    −    −    −    207,447207,447207,447207,447    
Amount due to related parties 1,511,511,511,512222    1111,,,,555512121212    −    −    −    −    −    1,5121,5121,5121,512    
Long-term debt (1) 449,449,449,449,490490490490    −    −    −    449,490449,490449,490449,490    −    −    449,490449,490449,490449,490    
Convertible debt 185,793185,793185,793185,793    −    −    −    86,25086,25086,25086,250    110,110,110,110,000000000000    −    196,250196,250196,250196,250    
Purchase price obligations  127,374127,374127,374127,374    31,71031,71031,71031,710    44,06144,06144,06144,061    49,08549,08549,08549,085    33,33,33,33,241241241241    27272727,7,7,7,777774444    102,758102,758102,758102,758    222288888,6298,6298,6298,629    
Puttable financial Instrument 
liability 13,99713,99713,99713,997    −−−−    −−−−    20,89820,89820,89820,898    −−−−    −−−−    −−−−    20,89820,89820,89820,898    
Other non-current liabilities 3,7033,7033,7033,703    −    −    −    4,9464,9464,9464,946    130130130130    −−−−    5555,,,,076076076076    

 989,316989,316989,316989,316    222240,66940,66940,66940,669    44,06144,06144,06144,061    66669999,,,,983983983983    555577773,9273,9273,9273,927    111133337,9047,9047,9047,904    102,758102,758102,758102,758    1,1,1,1,161616169,3029,3029,3029,302    

(1) Excluding deferred financing charges of $2,791 (Note 16). 

Fair value  

Investments 

The cost and fair value of investments recorded at fair value through profit or loss was $8,100 and $8,400, 
respectively, as at December 31, 2019 ($4,574 and $4,857 respectively as at December 31, 2018). An unrealized 
gain of $488 and realized gain of $368 was recognized in realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments during 
the year ended December 31, 2019 (unrealized loss of $623 and realized gain of $768 during the year ended 
December 31, 2018). 
 
Convertible and hybrid debentures 

The convertible and hybrid debentures are recorded respectively at an amortized cost of $80,425 and $105,368 as 
at December 31, 2019 ($79,008 and nil as at December 31, 2018). Their fair value based on market quotes is 
respectively $90,537 and $112,475 as at December 31, 2019 ($87,544 and nil as at December 31, 2018). 
 
Long-term debt 

The fair value of long-term debt approximates its carrying amount, given that it is subject to terms and conditions, 
including variable interest rates, similar to those available to the Company for instruments with comparable 
terms. 
 



FFFFieraieraieraiera    Capital CorporatiCapital CorporatiCapital CorporatiCapital Corporationononon    
Notes to the ConNotes to the ConNotes to the ConNotes to the Conssssolioliolioliddddated ated ated ated FinFinFinFinanciancianciancial Staal Staal Staal Statemtemtemtemententententssss    
DDDDececececembeembeembeember 31, 201r 31, 201r 31, 201r 31, 2019999    and and and and 2222010101018888    
((((in thousands of Cin thousands of Cin thousands of Cin thousands of Canadian danadian danadian danadian dollarollarollarollarssss, unless noted o, unless noted o, unless noted o, unless noted otherwise therwise therwise therwise ––––    except shareexcept shareexcept shareexcept share    andandandand    perperperper    share infoshare infoshare infoshare informationrmationrmationrmation)))) 
 

47|Fiera Capital Corporation 

11113333....    FFFFininininancial instruments ancial instruments ancial instruments ancial instruments (continued) 

Derivative financial instruments  

The Company’s derivative financial instruments consist of cross currency swap, interest rate swap and foreign 
exchange forward contracts which are presented at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
The fair value of derivatives that are not traded on an active market is determined using valuation techniques 
which maximize the use of observable market inputs such as interest rate yield curves as well as available 
information on market transactions involving other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash 
flows analysis or other techniques, where appropriate. To the extent practicable, valuation techniques incorporate 
all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and they are consistent with accepted 
economic methods for valuing financial instruments.  
 
The Company determines the fair value of its foreign exchange forward contracts by calculating the difference 
between the forward exchange rates at the measurement date and the contractual forward price for the residual 
maturity of the contract.  

Net gains (losses), fair value and the notional amount of derivatives by term to maturity are as follows: 

    

For For For For the year the year the year the year 
ended ended ended ended 

December December December December 
33331, 1, 1, 1, 2012012012019999    As at December 31, As at December 31, As at December 31, As at December 31, 2012012012019999    

Net gain Net gain Net gain Net gain 
((((loss) on loss) on loss) on loss) on 

derivativesderivativesderivativesderivatives    

Fair valueFair valueFair valueFair value    NotionNotionNotionNotional al al al amount: tamount: tamount: tamount: term to merm to merm to merm to maturityaturityaturityaturity    

    AsseAsseAsseAssetttt        (Liabi(Liabi(Liabi(Liability)lity)lity)lity)    

LesLesLesLess s s s 
ththththan 1 an 1 an 1 an 1 

yearyearyearyear    
From 1 to From 1 to From 1 to From 1 to 

5 yea5 yea5 yea5 yearsrsrsrs    
OOOOvvvveeeer 5r 5r 5r 5    

yeyeyeyearsarsarsars    

    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    

Foreign exchaForeign exchaForeign exchaForeign exchannnnge ge ge ge ccccontractsontractsontractsontracts                            
a)Forward foreign exchange contracts 

 – held for trading 2,2162,2162,2162,216    755755755755    −−−−    66662,3002,3002,3002,300    −    −    

b)Cross currency swaps – held for trading (12,2(12,2(12,2(12,257)57)57)57)    −    (3,540)(3,540)(3,540)(3,540)    222222225,5,5,5,000000000000    −    −    

IntIntIntInteeeerest rate contractsrest rate contractsrest rate contractsrest rate contracts                            

c)Swap contracts – held for trading (710)(710)(710)(710)    537537537537    (1,(1,(1,(1,999946)46)46)46)    −    250,00250,00250,00250,000000    −    

d)Swap contracts – cash flow hedges  −    −    (1,615)(1,615)(1,615)(1,615)    −    219,151219,151219,151219,151    −    
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11113333....    FinFinFinFinananananccccial instrumeial instrumeial instrumeial instruments nts nts nts (continued) 
    

    

For the year 
ended 

December 
31, 2018 As at December 31, 2018 

Net gain 
(loss) on 

derivatives 

Fair value Notional amount: term to maturity 

 Asset  (Liability) 

Less 
than 1 

year 
From 1 to 

5 years 
Over 5 

years 

    $ $ $ $ $ $ 

FFFForeign excoreign excoreign excoreign exchange contractshange contractshange contractshange contracts                            

a)Forward foreign exchange contracts              

– held for trading (5,294) − (1,672) 45,374 − − 

b)Cross currency swaps – held for trading 4,700 1,083 − 80,000 − − 

Interest rate contractsInterest rate contractsInterest rate contractsInterest rate contracts          

c)Swap contracts – held for trading (1,770) 860 (1,560) − 190,000 − 

d)Swap contracts – cash flow hedges − 4,506 − − 230,550 − 

Financial statement presentation as at December 31: 

(1)  Included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the consolidated statements of financial position. 

a) Forward foreign exchange contracts  

Company 

The Company enters into forward exchange contracts to manage the currency fluctuation risk associated with 
estimated revenues denominated in US dollars.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company has entered into month-end spot rate forward 
exchange contracts with various terms to maturity that aim to manage the currency fluctuation risk associated 
with up to twelve months of estimated future revenues in US dollars.   
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts are recognized at fair value at the date the contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to fair value through profit or loss at the end of each reporting period. The gain or loss 
on these derivative financial instruments is recognized in other revenues in the consolidated statement of earnings 
(loss) in accordance with the nature of the hedged item. 
 

  2012012012019999    2018 

  $$$$    $ 

Current derivative financial instrument assets (1) 755755755755    1,083 
Non-current derivative financial instrument assets 537537537537    5,366 
Current derivative financial instrument liabilities (3,540)(3,540)(3,540)(3,540)    (1,672) 
Non-current derivative financial instrument liabilities (3,(3,(3,(3,561561561561))))    (1,560) 
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The Company recorded a gain of $2,347 during the year ended December 31, 2019 (loss of $4,673 for the year 
ended December 31, 2018) and paid $376 as settlement of contracts that matured during the year (paid $2,939 
during the year ended December 31, 2018). The fair value of the foreign exchange contracts is an asset of $735 as 
at December 31, 2019 (liability of $1,237 as at December 31, 2018).  
 
Subsidiaries 

One of the Company’s subsidiaries enters into forward exchange contracts to manage the currency fluctuation risk 
associated with estimated revenues denominated in Euros. The subsidiary recorded a loss of $131 and a loss of 
$621 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. A total of $587 and $186 was paid during 
the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018  respectively as settlement of the contracts. As at December 31, 
2019, the fair value of these contracts was an asset of $20 (liability of $435 as at December 31, 2018).   
 
b) Cross currency swaps – held for trading  

Under the terms of the Company’s revolving facility (Note 16), the Company can borrow either in US dollars 
based on US base rate plus a spread varying from 0.0% to 1.5% or the LIBOR rate plus a spread varying from 1.0% 
to 2.5%, or in Canadian dollars based on the Canadian prime rate plus a spread varying from 0.0% to 1.5%. To 
benefit from interest cost savings, the Company has effectively created, until January 16, 2020, a synthetic 
equivalent to a Canadian dollar revolving facility at CDOR plus 1.51% on $225,000 (1.57% on $80,000 as at 
December 31, 2018) by borrowing against the US dollar revolving facility, the equivalent of $225,000 
(US$170,500) ($80,000 (US$59,400) as at December 31, 2018) at LIBOR plus 2.00%, and swapping it into CDOR 
plus 1.51% with a one-month cross currency swap.  
 
The objective of this strategy was to provide cost savings without currency risk since the terms of the US LIBOR 
financing and the cross-currency swap are exactly matched (US dollar notional amount, LIBOR rate, trade and 
maturity dates). Losses (gains) on cross currency swaps are offset by equivalent gains (losses) on the translation of 
the US denominated economically hedged portion of the revolving facility since the financing terms are exactly 
matched. 
 
The net gain or loss on these derivative financial instruments is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
earnings (loss) in accordance with the nature of the economically hedged item, the revolving facility, and therefore 
is presented in interest on long-term debt and other financial charges. The Company recorded a loss of $12,257 
during the year ended December 31, 2019, with no net impact on earnings as described above (gain of $4,700 
during the year ended December 31, 2018). A total of $7,633 was paid during the year ended December 31, 2019 
as settlement of these contracts ($3,617 was received during the year ended December 31, 2018).  
 
The fair value of the cross-currency swap contracts was a liability of $3,540 as at December 31, 2019 (asset of 
$1,083 as at December 31, 2018).  
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c) Interest rate swap contract – held for trading  

The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage the impact of the interest rate fluctuations on its 
credit facility denominated in Canadian dollars. Interest is settled on a monthly basis.  

In May 2019, the Company entered into two interest rate swap contracts with an original notional amount of 
$35,000 and $25,000 maturing on May 2, 2022 and May 13, 2022 respectively. The contracts consist of 
exchanging the variable interest rate based on a one-month CDOR rate for a fixed rate of 1.945% (on $35,000) 
and 1.900% (on $25,000). There were no changes to the terms of the other interest rate swap contracts (held for 
trading) held by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2019.  
 
The net gain or loss on these derivative financial instruments is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
earnings (loss) with interest on long-term debt and other financial charges. The Company recorded a loss of $710 
during the year ended December 31, 2019 (loss of $1,770 during the year ended December 31, 2018). 
 
The fair value of the interest rate swap contracts is an asset of $537 and a liability of $1,946 as at December 31, 
2019 (asset of $860 and liability of $1,560 as at December 31, 2018). 
 
d) Interest rate swap contracts – Cash flow hedges 

The Company holds interest rate swap contracts designated as cash flows hedges which satisfy the requirements 
for hedge accounting. There were no changes to the terms of the contracts held by the Company during the year 
ended December 31, 2019. 
 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of these contracts is recognized in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a hedging reserve.  The Company recorded another comprehensive loss of $5,310 (net of 
income taxes of $811) during the year ended December 31, 2019 (gain of $1,833 (net of income taxes of $259) 
during the year ended December 31, 2018). 
 
The ineffective portion of changes in fair value is recognized immediately in profit or loss in the consolidated 
statement of earnings (loss). There is no ineffective portion on these contracts for the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018.  The fair value of the interest rate swap contracts designated as cash flow hedges is a liability of 
$1,615 as at December 31, 2019 (asset of $4,506 as at December 31, 2018). 
 
The Company remains exposed to fluctuations in the US base or LIBOR rates on the difference between the US 
dollar credit facility and the notional amounts of the US dollar interest rate swap contracts. The drawings in US 
dollars on the credit facility are US$323,660 as at December 31, 2019 (US$219,400 as at December 31, 2018). 
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e) Call option related to WGAM 

On December 1, 2018, Fiera Capital Inc. (“FCI”), wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an 
agreement with Wilkinson Global Capital Partners LLC (the “Partners”) by which the Partners have the right, but 
not the obligation, to purchase all, but not less than all, of the Company’s equity interest in WGAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company that manages special client accounts under investment advisory agreements. 
The call right can be exercised at any time during the period from January 1, 2021 (the call commencement date) 
until January 1, 2023 (the call expiration date) or on an earlier date at the discretion of FCI. If the Partners do not 
exercise the call option by the call expiration date or within 30 days of notice, the call option will expire.  The call 
exercise price is designed to represent the fair value of the WGAM business.  Since the call option price is based on 
the estimated fair value of the WGAM business and it is not exercisable at December 31, 2019, this derivative 
financial instrument has no financial impact in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
f) Puttable financial instrument liability and call option related to Palmer Capital 

Under the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement Fiera Real Estate, the acquirer, has the right but not the 
obligation to acquire the 20% non-controlling interest in Palmer Capital. This call right can be exercised by the 
acquirer on April 30, 2022 or on April 30 of any year thereafter. The non-controlling interest shareholders of 
Palmer Capital have the right but not the obligation to exercise their put right on the 20% non-controlling interest 
of Palmer Capital on March 31, 2022 or on March 31 of any year thereafter. If exercised, both the put and the call 
right would require Fiera Real Estate or the Company to acquire the 20% non-controlling interest in Palmer 
Capital. 
 
The exercise price is the same for both the put and the call rights. The exercise price is a prescribed price calculated 
based on a multiplier of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation as defined in the Sale and Purchase 
Agreement.  
 
The put right on the non-controlling interest in Palmer Capital is classified as a financial liability and measured at 
fair value through profit and loss. It was initially measured at fair value of $13,237 at the acquisition date and 
subsequently remeasured at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated 
statement of net earnings (loss). The fair value of the puttable financial instrument liability is $13,997 at 
December 31, 2019.  
 
g) Contingent value rights related to IAM 

Through the acquisition of IAM, IAM shareholders received CVRs (Note 4). The Company accounted for the CVR 
asset at fair value on the acquisition date, and subsequently revalued the instrument at amortized cost. The short-
term portion of the CVR asset is recorded within Trade and other receivables, while the long-term portion is 
recorded in Other non-current assets. The CVR liability, on the acquisition date, was recorded at fair value and 
subsequently revalued at fair value through profit and loss. The short-term portion of the CVR liability was 
recorded in Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities, while the long-term portion was recorded in Other 
non-current liabilities. 
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Financial instruments by category: 
    AAAAs at s at s at s at DeDeDeDecember 3cember 3cember 3cember 31, 2011, 2011, 2011, 2019999    

    
AmortizedAmortizedAmortizedAmortized    

    costcostcostcost    

Fair vFair vFair vFair value alue alue alue     
through through through through     

proproproprofit or lossfit or lossfit or lossfit or loss    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    
Assets Assets Assets Assets                 
Cash and cash equivalents 99996,216,216,216,219999    −    96,21996,21996,21996,219    
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 8,1488,1488,1488,148    −    8,8,8,8,148148148148    
Investments −    2222,,,,666655557777    2,6572,6572,6572,657    
Trade and other receivables 175,970175,970175,970175,970    −    111175,97075,97075,97075,970    

Long-term receivable(1) 636363630000    −    630630630630    
Long-term investments −    5,7435,7435,7435,743    5,7435,7435,7435,743    

Derivative financial instruments (2) −    1,291,291,291,292222    1,21,21,21,292929292    
Other non-current assets (5) 6,6546,6546,6546,654    −    6,6546,6546,6546,654    
Total 222288887,6217,6217,6217,621    9,6929,6929,6929,692    222299997777,,,,313313313313    

LiabilLiabilLiabilLiabilities ities ities ities                 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 200,316200,316200,316200,316    7,1317,1317,1317,131    207,447207,447207,447207,447    
Purchase price obligations −    127127127127,37,37,37,374444    121212127777,374,374,374,374    
Puttable financial instrument liability −    13,13,13,13,997997997997    13,13,13,13,997997997997    

Other non-current liabilities(4) −    3333,,,,703703703703    3333,,,,703703703703    
Derivative financial instruments −    7,1017,1017,1017,101    7,107,107,107,101111    
Amounts due to related parties 1,5121,5121,5121,512    −    1,5121,5121,5121,512    

Client deposits(3) 155155155155    −    151515155555    
Long-term debt  446,699446,699446,699446,699    −    444446,69946,69946,69946,699    
Convertible debt 185,793185,793185,793185,793    −    185185185185,793,793,793,793    
Total 888833334,4754,4754,4754,475    111155559999,,,,306306306306    999999993333,,,,781781781781    

(1)  Presented in deferred charges and other on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
(2)  Includes $755 presented in prepaid expenses and other assets on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
(3) Presented in client deposits and deferred revenues on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
(4) Represents the long-term portion of the CVR liability and excludes $4,325 in other non-current liabilities not categorized as financial 

instruments. 
(5) Represents the long-term portion of the CVR asset. 
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    As As As As at at at at DecDecDecDecember 31, 2018ember 31, 2018ember 31, 2018ember 31, 2018    

    
AmorAmorAmorAmorttttizedizedizedized    

    costcostcostcost    

Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value     
throughthroughthroughthrough        

prprprprofit or lossofit or lossofit or lossofit or loss    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    
Assets Assets Assets Assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents 52,466 − 52,466 

Restricted cash 1,012 − 1,012 

Investments − 4,857 4,857 

Trade and other receivables 148,459 − 148,459 

Long-term receivable(1) 22 − 22 

Derivative financial instruments (2) − 6,449 6,449 

Total 201,959 11,306 213,265 

Liabilities Liabilities Liabilities Liabilities        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 144,059 − 144,059 

Purchase price obligations − 130,708 130,708 

Derivative financial instruments − 3,232 3,232 

Amounts due to related parties 2,599 − 2,599 

Client deposits(3) 388 − 388 

Long-term debt  421,527 − 421,527 

Convertible debentures 79,008 − 79,008 
Total 647,581 133,940 781,521 

(1)  Presented in deferred charges and other on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
(2)  Includes $1,083 presented in prepaid expenses and other assets on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
(3) Presented in client deposits and deferred revenues on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 

Fair value hierarchy 

The financial assets and liabilities that are recognized on the consolidated statements of financial position at fair 
value are classified using a hierarchy that is based on the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements. The levels in the hierarchy are: 
 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and 
• Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs). 
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The following table presents the financial instruments recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of 
financial position, classified using the fair value hierarchy: 
 

         As at December 31, As at December 31, As at December 31, As at December 31, 2012012012019999    
 Level 1Level 1Level 1Level 1    Level 2Level 2Level 2Level 2    LevLevLevLevel 3el 3el 3el 3    TotaTotaTotaTotallll    

    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    
Financial assetsFinancial assetsFinancial assetsFinancial assets                 
Investments −    2,2,2,2,653653653653    4444    2,6572,6572,6572,657    
Long-term investments −    −    5,7435,7435,7435,743    5,7435,7435,7435,743    
Derivative financial instruments  −    1,2921,2921,2921,292    −    1,2921,2921,2921,292    
Total financial assets −        3,9453,9453,9453,945    5,7475,7475,7475,747    9999,,,,692692692692    
Financial liabiFinancial liabiFinancial liabiFinancial liabilitieslitieslitieslities                    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities −    −    7,1317,1317,1317,131    7777,,,,131131131131    
Purchase price obligations  −    −    111122227777,374,374,374,374    121212127777,374,374,374,374    
Puttable financial instrument liability −    −    13,13,13,13,997997997997    13,13,13,13,997997997997    
Other non-current liabilities −    −    3333,703,703,703,703    3,7033,7033,7033,703    
Derivative financial instruments −    7,17,17,17,101010101    −    7,1017,1017,1017,101    
Total financial liabilities −    7,1017,1017,1017,101    152,205152,205152,205152,205    159,306159,306159,306159,306    

 
    As at December 31, 2018 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

    $ $ $ $ 
Financial assetsFinancial assetsFinancial assetsFinancial assets                 
Investments −    4,853 4 4,857 
Derivative financial instruments  − 6,449 − 6,449 
Total financial assets − 11,302 4 11,306 
Financial liabilitiesFinancial liabilitiesFinancial liabilitiesFinancial liabilities        
Purchase price obligations − − 130,708 130,708 
Derivative financial instruments  − 3,232 − 3,232 

Total financial liabilities − 3,232 130,708 133,940 

 

Level 3 

The fair value of purchase price obligations, the puttable financial instrument liabilities and the CVRs are 
determined using a discounted cash flow analysis which makes use of unobservable inputs such as expected cash 
flows and risk adjusted discount rates. Expected cash flows are estimated based on the terms of the contractual 
arrangements and the Company’s knowledge of the business and how the current economic environment is likely 
to impact it.  
 
Purchase price obligations, puttable financial instrument liability and the CVRs are Level 3 financial liabilities. The 
Company uses valuation techniques to record the fair value of the liabilities at the reporting date. The Company 
analyzed the characteristics of the liability being valued, including the circumstances and the information available 
as at the valuation date and selected the most appropriate valuation technique.  
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Purchase price obligation - CNR:   
 
A reasonable change in unobservable inputs would not result in a significant change in the fair value of purchase 
price obligations other than for the City National Rochdale (“CNR”) liability, which is presented below. 
 
The main Level 3 inputs used by the Company to value the purchase price obligations of CNR are derived from the 
following unobservable inputs and determined as follows: 

• Annual revenue growth factors, such market rate and net contributions rate, are estimated based on 
internal and external data and publications, economic conditions, and the specific characteristics of the 
financial liability. A higher annual revenue growth factor will result in a higher fair value. To assess the fair 
value as at December 31, 2019, for market growth rate and net contributions rate, the Company used 
8.6% and 2.5%, respectively.  

• The risk-adjusted discount rate is determined by adjusting a risk-free rate to reflect the specific risks 
associated with the financial liability. The discount rate is the input used to bring the future cash flows to 
their present value. A higher discount rate would result in a lower fair value. To assess the fair value as at 
December 31, 2019, the Company used a discount rate of 41%.  

 
The discounted cash flow method was used to measure the present value of the expected future cash flows to be 
paid to CNR as contingent consideration. The fair value of the CNR purchase price obligation as at December 31, 
2019 was $74,054 (US$57,108) and $74,118 (US$54,331) as at December 31, 2018.   
 
The significant unobservable inputs are annual revenue growth factors, market growth and net contributions, and 
the risk-adjusted discount rate.   
 

• An increase (decrease) of 350 basis points in the market growth rate would result in an increase (decrease) 
of approximately $5,187 (US$4,000) in the fair value of the purchase price obligation. 
 

• An increase (decrease) of 300 basis points in the net contributions rate would result in an increase 
(decrease) of approximately $2,204 (US$1,700) in the fair value of the purchase price obligation.  
 

• An increase (decrease) of 200 basis points in the risk-adjusted discount rate would result in a decrease 
(increase) of approximately $2,594 (US$2,000) in the fair value of the purchase price obligation. 

 
Due to the unobservable nature of the inputs, there may be uncertainty about the valuation of these Level 3 
financial instruments and using reasonably possible alternative assumptions would change the fair value. 
Moreover, the relationship between the risk-adjusted discount rate and the other unobservable inputs is not 
necessarily a direct relationship and different inter-relationships could be reasonably applied. The Company varied 
the significant unobservable inputs such as the risk-adjusted discount rate, the market growth and the net 
contributions and established a reasonable fair value range that could result in a $7,781 (US$6,000)  increase or 
decrease in the fair value of the purchase price obligation as at December 31, 2019 ($8,080 (US$6,000) as at 
December 31, 2018). 
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Purchase price obligation – Clearwater: 

The discounted cash flow method was used to measure the present value of the expected future cash flows to be 
paid to the sellers as contingent consideration. The Company increased the fair value of the purchase price 
obligation and recorded an expense of $1,359 (US$1,026) during the year ended December 31, 2019. The fair value 
of the Clearwater purchase price obligation as at December 31, 2019 was $43,753 (US$33,738) and $39,955 
(US$28,553) as at December 31, 2018.   
 
The main Level 3 inputs used by the Company to value the Clearwater purchase price obligations are derived from 
unobservable inputs of revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) 
forecasts, management’s estimates of revenue from cross-selling, and the risk-adjusted discount rate.  The 
discount rate is the input used to bring the future cash flows to their present value.  The Company used discount 
rates between 10% and 15%.  
 
Due to the unobservable nature of the inputs, there may be uncertainty about the valuation of these Level 3 
financial instruments and using reasonably possible alternative assumptions would change the fair value. 
Moreover, the relationship between the risk-adjusted discount rate and the other unobservable inputs is not 
necessarily a direct relationship and different inter-relationships could be reasonably applied. The Company varied 
the significant unobservable inputs such as the risk-adjusted discount rate, revenue, EBITDA, and cross-selling 
forecasts and established a reasonable fair value range between $36,309 (US$28,000) and $40,199 (US$31,000) 
for its purchase price obligation as at December 31, 2019. 
 
Puttable financial instrument liability: 

The discounted cash flow method was used to measure the present value of the expected future cash flows to be 
paid to the non-controlling interest shareholders. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company 
recorded an expense of $1,003 (GBP598) as revaluation of the puttable financial instrument liability. The fair value 
of the puttable financial instrument liability was $13,997 (GBP8,148) as at December 31, 2019.   
 
The main Level 3 inputs used by the Company to value the puttable financial instrument liability are derived from 
unobservable inputs of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) forecasts, and 
the risk-adjusted discount rate.  The discount rate is the input used to bring the future cash flow to their present 
value. The company used a discount rate of 17%.  
 
Due to the unobservable nature of the inputs, there may be uncertainty about the valuation of these Level 3 
financial instruments and using reasonably possible alternative assumptions would change the fair value. 
Moreover, the relationship between the risk-adjusted discount rate and the other unobservable inputs does not 
necessarily have direct relationship and different inter-relationships could be reasonably applied. The Company 
varied the significant unobservable inputs such as the risk-adjusted discount rate and EBITDA and established a 
reasonable fair value range between $13,228 (GBP7,700) and $16,148 (GBP9,400) for its purchase price obligation 
as at December 31, 2019. 
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements: 

 InvInvInvInvestmestmestmestmentsentsentsents    
LongLongLongLong----termtermtermterm    

invinvinvinvesesesestmentmentmentmentstststs    

AccoAccoAccoAccounts unts unts unts     
payapayapayapayable and ble and ble and ble and     

acacacaccrued crued crued crued     
lllliaiaiaiabilitiesbilitiesbilitiesbilities    

PurchasePurchasePurchasePurchase    
    pricpricpricpriceeee    

obligatioobligatioobligatioobligationnnnssss    

    PuttaPuttaPuttaPuttabbbble le le le     
fifififinancial nancial nancial nancial     

InstrumentInstrumentInstrumentInstrument    
    lilililiabilityabilityabilityability    

Other Other Other Other     
nonnonnonnon----currencurrencurrencurrent t t t     

lialialialiabibibibilitieslitieslitieslities    ToToToTotaltaltaltal    

        $$$$        $$$$    
    

    $$$$        $$$$        $$$$        $$$$    

Fair value as at December 31, 2018 4444    −    −    (130,(130,(130,(130,708)708)708)708)    −    −    (130,(130,(130,(130,704)704)704)704)    

Additions from business combinations −    9,659,659,659,653333    (6,880)(6,880)(6,880)(6,880)    (1,(1,(1,(1,343343343343))))    (13,237)(13,237)(13,237)(13,237)    ((((3333,,,,703703703703))))    ((((15151515,,,,555510101010))))    

Additions from asset acquisitions −    −    −    (5,57(5,57(5,57(5,576666))))    − −    (5,57(5,57(5,57(5,576666))))    

Additional investments − 2,3452,3452,3452,345    − − − − 2,3452,3452,3452,345    

Disposal of investments − ((((6,6,6,6,555555556666))))    − − − − ((((6,6,6,6,555555556666))))    
Revaluation of puttable financial 

instrument liability −    −    − −    (1,(1,(1,(1,003)003)003)003)    −    (1,003)(1,003)(1,003)(1,003)    

Settlement of purchase price obligations −    −    −    34,38634,38634,38634,386    −    −    34,38634,38634,38634,386    

Total realized and unrealized (losses)  − 568568568568    − −    − − 568568568568    

Other − (61)(61)(61)(61)    − − − − (61)(61)(61)(61)    
Total realized and unrealized (losses) 

included in accretion and change in fair 

value of purchase price obligations and 

CVR −    −    (251)(251)(251)(251)    (28(28(28(28,58,58,58,589999))))    −    −    (28,(28,(28,(28,840840840840))))    
Revaluation of a purchase price 

obligation included in accretion and 

change in fair value of purchase price 

obligations  −    −    −    (1,391)(1,391)(1,391)(1,391)    −    −    (1,391)(1,391)(1,391)(1,391)    
Total realized and unrealized exchange 

differences recognized in net earnings 

(loss) and on foreign operations 

included in other comprehensive 

income −    (206)(206)(206)(206)    −    5,845,845,845,847777    242424243333    −    5,885,885,885,884444    
FaiFaiFaiFair r r r valvalvalvalue as aue as aue as aue as at t t t DecemDecemDecemDecemberberberber    33331111, , , , 
2222010101019999    4444    5,5,5,5,743743743743    (7,1(7,1(7,1(7,131)31)31)31)    (1(1(1(122227777,,,,374374374374))))    (13,(13,(13,(13,997997997997))))    ((((3333,,,,703703703703))))    (1(1(1(144446666,,,,458458458458))))    
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11113333....    Financial instruments Financial instruments Financial instruments Financial instruments (continued) 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements: 

 InvestmentInvestmentInvestmentInvestmentssss    
PurchasPurchasPurchasPurchase pricee pricee pricee price    

    obligationsobligationsobligationsobligations    TotalTotalTotalTotal    
        $$$$    $$$$    $$$$    

Fair value as at December 31, 2017 11111111    (89,136(89,136(89,136(89,136))))    (89,(89,(89,(89,121212125)5)5)5)    

Additional purchase price obligations −    (38,503)(38,503)(38,503)(38,503)    ((((38,503)38,503)38,503)38,503) 

Settlement of purchase price obligations −    22229,1919,1919,1919,191    29,19129,19129,19129,191    
Total realized and unrealized (losses)  (7)(7)(7)(7)    −    (7)(7)(7)(7)        
Revaluation of a purchase price obligation included in accretion 

and change in fair value of purchase price obligations −    (85(85(85(852)2)2)2)    (852)(852)(852)(852)    
Total realized and unrealized (losses) included in accretion 

and change in fair value of purchase price obligations −    (23,64(23,64(23,64(23,645555))))    (23,(23,(23,(23,645645645645))))    
Total realized and unrealized (losses) included in interest on long-term 

debt and other financial charges −    ((((1,845)1,845)1,845)1,845)    (1,845)(1,845)(1,845)(1,845)    
Total realized and unrealized (losses) included in other 

comprehensive income −    (5(5(5(5,91,91,91,918888))))    (5,(5,(5,(5,918918918918))))    
Fair value as at December 31, 2018Fair value as at December 31, 2018Fair value as at December 31, 2018Fair value as at December 31, 2018    4444    ((((130,708130,708130,708130,708))))    (130,704)(130,704)(130,704)(130,704)    

 
There were no transfers between levels during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

14.14.14.14. Accounts payable and accrued liabilitiesAccounts payable and accrued liabilitiesAccounts payable and accrued liabilitiesAccounts payable and accrued liabilities    

    
As atAs atAs atAs at    

December December December December 33331,1,1,1,    2012012012019999    
As at 

December 31, 2018 

    $$$$    $ 
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities 55552222,,,,182182182182    36,298 
Wages and vacation payable 8,28,28,28,297979797    8,522 
Bonuses and commissions payable 115,115,115,115,601601601601    86,666 
Cash settled share-based liabilities 24,22824,22824,22824,228    7,525 
Income taxes payable (recoverable) 4,4,4,4,503503503503    3,403 
Sales taxes payable 2,632,632,632,636666    1,645 

 207,447207,447207,447207,447    144,059 
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15.15.15.15. Income taxes Income taxes Income taxes Income taxes     

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, is as follows: 

    2222010101019999    2018 
    $$$$    $ 

Current income taxes  15,65015,65015,65015,650    14,060 
Deferred income taxes (recovery) (5,958)(5,958)(5,958)(5,958)    (14,489) 

 9999,692,692,692,692    (429) 

    
The Company’s income tax expense differs from the amounts that would have been obtained using the combined 
Canadian federal and provincial statutory tax rates for the years ended December 31, as follows: 

    2012012012019999    2018 

    $$$$    $ 
      
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (1,014)(1,014)(1,014)(1,014)    (5,184) 
Combined federal and provincial statutory tax rates 26.6%26.6%26.6%26.6%    26.7% 
Income tax expense (recovery) based on combined  

statutory income tax rate (271)(271)(271)(271)    (1,382) 
Difference between Canadian and foreign statutory rates (2,465)(2,465)(2,465)(2,465)    (2,305) 
Non-deductible and non-taxable items(1) 11,11,11,11,539539539539    4,719 
Taxable capital gain on disposal of assets 1,1,1,1,411411411411    − 
Prior years’ tax adjustments  (522)(522)(522)(522)    (1,461) 

 9,699,699,699,692222    (429) 

(1) Includes acquisition costs of $2,246 (2018 - $1,811), finance fees of $3,741 (2018 – nil), accretion and change in fair value of purchase 
price obligations of $2,010 (2018 – $1,176). 
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11115555....    IncoIncoIncoIncome taxes me taxes me taxes me taxes (continued)        

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the years, without taking into consideration the 
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: 

    

IFRIFRIFRIFRS 16 S 16 S 16 S 16 

Assets & Assets & Assets & Assets & 

ObligatioObligatioObligatioObligationnnnssss    

Joint venture Joint venture Joint venture Joint venture 

invinvinvinvestestestestments ments ments ments 

& & & & asasasassociatessociatessociatessociates        

RestrRestrRestrRestructuring ucturing ucturing ucturing 

pppprrrrovisioovisioovisioovisionsnsnsns    

CCCCarry arry arry arry 

forwaforwaforwaforwardrdrdrd    

lolololossesssesssessses    

Intangible Intangible Intangible Intangible 

assetsassetsassetsassets    

Property Property Property Property andandandand    

equipmentequipmentequipmentequipment    OtherOtherOtherOther    ToToToTotaltaltaltal    

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance, December 31, 2017 − − 854 14,862 (25,192) (1,158) 6,285 (4,349) 
Charged to earnings (loss) − − (304) 1,357 9,242 351 3,843 14,489 
Convertible debentures 

(Note 17) − − − − − − (53) (53) 
Business combinations  − − − − (3,923) 25 − (3,898) 
Charged to other 

comprehensive 
income − − − − − − (259) (259) 

Reclassification to 
deferred income 
taxes on assets held-
for-sale − − − − 704 − − 704 

Reclassification to assets 
held-for-sale − − − (65) − − − (65) 

Foreign exchange 
difference − − − 1,124 (767) (121) 799 1,035 

Balance, December 31, 
2018 − − 550 17,278 (19,936) (903) 10,615 7,604 

Charged to earnings (loss) 5555,540,540,540,540    164164164164    142142142142    ((((1111,,,,281281281281))))    7,3057,3057,3057,305    (3,(3,(3,(3,777722222222))))    ((((2222,,,,190190190190))))    5,9585,9585,9585,958    
Business combinations 

(Note 4) −−−−    ((((1111,,,,227227227227))))    −−−−    6666,,,,988988988988    ((((7777,,,,880880880880))))    −    (3,859(3,859(3,859(3,859))))    ((((5555,,,,978978978978))))    
Charged to other 

comprehensive 
income −−−−    −−−−    −−−−    −    −    −    811811811811    888811111111    

Disposal of assets held for 
sale −−−−    −−−−    −−−−    −    (704)(704)(704)(704)    −    −        ((((704704704704))))    

Charged to contributed 
surplus −−−−    −−−−    −−−−    −−−− −−−−    −−−− 2,2,2,2,048048048048    2,0482,0482,0482,048    

Foreign exchange 
difference (1(1(1(180808080))))    333311111111    −−−−    (43)(43)(43)(43)    904904904904    ((((176176176176))))    ((((1,0371,0371,0371,037))))    ((((221221221221))))    

Balance, December Balance, December Balance, December Balance, December 31, 31, 31, 31, 
2012012012019999    5,3605,3605,3605,360    ((((752752752752))))    692692692692    22,94222,94222,94222,942    (20,3(20,3(20,3(20,311)11)11)11)    (4,801)(4,801)(4,801)(4,801)    6666,38,38,38,388888    9,9,9,9,518518518518    

Financial statement presentation as at December 31: 

  2020202011119999    2018 

  $$$$    $ 
Non-current deferred income tax assets 23232323,559,559,559,559    20,093 
Non-current deferred income tax liabilities  (14,(14,(14,(14,041041041041))))    (12,489) 
Total  9,9,9,9,518518518518    7,604 
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16.16.16.16. LoLoLoLongngngng----tttterm debterm debterm debterm debt    
    As atAs atAs atAs at        

DeceDeceDeceDecember 3mber 3mber 3mber 31111, , , , 2012012012019999    
As at 

December 31, 2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Credit facility      

Revolving facility  444444449,4909,4909,4909,490    422,805 

Other facilities −−−−    919 

Deferred financing charges (2,791)(2,791)(2,791)(2,791)    (2,197) 

 444444446,6996,6996,6996,699    421,527 

Less current portion −−−−    (388) 

Non-current portion 446,699446,699446,699446,699    421,139 

    
Credit FacilityCredit FacilityCredit FacilityCredit Facility        

On November 14, 2019, the Company entered into the Sixth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Credit 
Agreement”) with a Canadian banking syndicate of lenders. The Facility is used for general corporate purposes.  It 
is comprised of a $600,000 senior unsecured revolving facility (“Facility”) which can be drawn in Canadian or US 
dollars at the discretion of the Company.   
 
Under the terms of the Credit Agreement and subject to the repayment of the Company’s Convertible debentures 
on June 23, 2023 (Note 17), there are no minimum repayments until June 30, 2023, the date at which the amount 
drawn is repayable in full. At any time, subject to certain terms and conditions, the Company may request an 
increase in the available Facility by an amount of up to $200,000 subject to the acceptance of the individual 
lenders in the banking syndicate. Subject to certain terms and conditions, the Credit Agreement allows for 
extensions of the Facility’s maturity date, in one-year increments, at the request of the Company and subject to 
the acceptance of a group of lenders within the banking syndicate whose commitments amount to, in the 
aggregate, more than 66 2/3%.  
 
The Facility bears interest, payable monthly, at variable rates based on the currency in which an amount is drawn 
and on the quarterly Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement. The interest rate is based 
on the Canadian prime rate plus a spread which varies from 0.0% to 1.5% or, at the discretion of the Company for 
amounts drawn in US Dollars, based either on the US base rate plus a spread varying from 0.0% to 1.5% or the 
LIBOR rate plus a spread varying from 1.0% to 2.5%.  
 
As at December 31, 2019, the total amount drawn on the Facility was $29,784 and US$323,660 ($419,706) 
($123,500 and US$219,400 ($299,305) as at December 31, 2018). 
 
The Sixth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement replaced the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement 
entered into by the Company on May 28, 2018, with similar terms, which was repayable in full on June 30, 2022.  
 
The renegotiation of the Credit Agreement was treated as a modification under IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and 
the transaction fees of $435 associated with the Facility and $480 associated with the Previous Credit Agreement 
were capitalized to the Facility as long-term debt in the consolidated statements of financial position. During the 
year ended December 31, 2019, fees of $405 related to a modification in the administration of the banking 
syndicate were also capitalized to the Facility. 
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11116666....    LongLongLongLong----terterterterm m m m debt debt debt debt (continued) 

Prior to May 28, 2018, the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Previous Credit Agreement”) 
included a US$125,000 term (non-revolving) facility and a $350,000 senior unsecured revolving facility which 
could be drawn in Canadian or US dollars at the discretion of the Company.  There were no changes to the interest 
rates applicable on the Previous Credit Facility. Transaction fees of $1,466 associated with the Facility and $1,034 
associated with the Previous Credit Agreement were capitalized to the Facility as long-term debt in the 
consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Under the terms of the Credit Agreement and the Previous Credit Agreement, the Company must satisfy certain 
restrictive covenants including minimum financial ratios. These restrictions include maintaining a maximum ratio 
of Funded Debt to EBITDA and a minimum Interest Coverage Ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement and the 
Previous Credit Agreement. EBITDA, a non-IFRS financial measure, includes consolidated earnings (losses) before 
interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and other non-cash items, and excludes extraordinary and 
unusual items including non-recurring items and certain purchase price obligations as well as certain other 
adjustments outlined in the Credit Agreement. All restrictive covenants under the Credit Agreement were met as 
at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. The Credit Agreement also includes covenants that limit the ability 
of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries that are specifically included in the Credit Agreement as borrowing 
parties and therefore are guarantors to the Facility, to engage in specified types of transactions and thus imposes 
certain operating and financing restrictions on these entities.  
 
OOOOther Facilitther Facilitther Facilitther Facilitieieieiessss    

As at December 31, 2018, one of the Company’s subsidiaries had an outstanding bank loan in the amount of $231 
of which quarterly payments of $131 were required. The loan bore interest at prime plus 0.25% to 1.25% which 
was based on the ratio of senior debt to EBITDA (a non-IFRS financial measure defined in the loan agreement). The 
original maturity of this loan was June 30, 2019, however the subsidiary repaid the total outstanding balance in 
January 2019. All debt covenant requirements were met as at December 31, 2018. 
    
As at December 31, 2018, this subsidiary also had a leasing facility with an outstanding balance of $688, under 
which monthly payments of $15 were required. In January 2019, the subsidiary repaid the outstanding balance of 
this lease facility. As at December 31, 2018, the current and non-current portions of the loan were $157 and $531 
respectively. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, this subsidiary also had a line of credit with a limit of $750. This credit limit bore interest 
at prime plus 0.25% to up to 1.00% which was also based on the ratio of senior debt to EBITDA and had no fixed 
maturity date. As at December 31, 2018 the subsidiary had not drawn on the line of credit and it was cancelled in 
January 2019. 
 
Another subsidiary of the Company has a line of credit with a dollar limit of $920. It bears interest at prime plus 
1.50% and has no fixed maturity date. As at December 31, 2019 the subsidiary had not drawn on the line of credit 
(nil as at December 31, 2018). 
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11116666....    LongLongLongLong----teteteterrrrmmmm    debt debt debt debt (continued) 

Reconciliation of long-term debt arising from financing activities for the years ended December 31: 

 2012012012019999 2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Balance, beginning of year  421,527421,527421,527421,527    293,771 
Cash flows      

(Reimbursement)/proceeds from borrowings  49,00549,00549,00549,005    109,261 
Capitalized borrowing costs (1,320)(1,320)(1,320)(1,320)    (1,495) 

Non-cash changes      
Amortization of deferred financing charges 726726726726    650 
Foreign exchange difference ((((23,223,223,223,239393939))))    19,340 

Balance, end of year 446,699446,699446,699446,699    421,527 

17.17.17.17. Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible ddddebebebebtttt    

The balance of the convertible debt as at December 31 consists of the following: 

 2019201920192019    2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Convertible debentures – 5.00% due June 23, 2023  80,42580,42580,42580,425    79,008 
Hybrid debentures – 5.60% due July 31, 2024 105,36105,36105,36105,368888    - 
Non-current portion     185,793185,793185,793185,793    79,008 

 
a) Convertible debentures – 5.00% due June 23, 2023    

 2019201920192019 2018201820182018    
 $$$$    $$$$    
Face value  86,25086,25086,25086,250    86,250 
Less:      

Issuance costs (4,031)(4,031)(4,031)(4,031)    (4,031) 
Equity component (net of issuance costs of $224) (4,568)(4,568)(4,568)(4,568)    (4,568) 

Accretion expense on liability component 2,7742,7742,7742,774    1,357 
Balance, end of year 80,42580,42580,42580,425    79,008 

On December 21, 2017, the Company issued 86,250 unsecured convertible debentures at 5% maturing on 
June 23, 2023, with interest payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31 of each year starting 
June 30, 2018, for gross proceeds of $86,250. The convertible debentures are convertible at the option of the 
holder at a conversion price of $18.85 per Class A subordinate shares (“Class A Shares”). The convertible 
debentures are not redeemable by the Company before June 30, 2021. The convertible debentures are redeemable 
by the Company at a price of $1 per convertible debenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on or after June 30, 
2021 and prior to June 30, 2022 (provided that the weighted average trading price of the Class A Shares on the 
TSX for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five days preceding the date on which the notice of redemption is 
given, is not less than 125% of the conversion price of $18.85 per share). On or after June 30, 2022 but prior to the 
maturity date, the Company may redeem on not more than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior notice, at a 
price of $1 per convertible debenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, an amount of $4,313 (2018 – $4,431) was paid representing the 
accrued cash interest.  



FFFFieraieraieraiera    Capital CorporatiCapital CorporatiCapital CorporatiCapital Corporationononon    
Notes to the ConNotes to the ConNotes to the ConNotes to the Conssssolioliolioliddddated ated ated ated FinFinFinFinanciancianciancial Staal Staal Staal Statemtemtemtemententententssss    
DDDDececececembeembeembeember 31, 201r 31, 201r 31, 201r 31, 2019999    and and and and 2222010101018888    
((((in thousands of Cin thousands of Cin thousands of Cin thousands of Canadian danadian danadian danadian dollarollarollarollarssss, unless noted o, unless noted o, unless noted o, unless noted otherwise therwise therwise therwise ––––    except shareexcept shareexcept shareexcept share    andandandand    perperperper    share infoshare infoshare infoshare informationrmationrmationrmation)))) 
 

64|Fiera Capital Corporation 

17171717 Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible ddddebebebebtttt    (continued)    

b) Hybrid debentures – 5.60% due July 31, 2024 

 
AAAAs ats ats ats at    

DecemberDecemberDecemberDecember    33331111, 2019, 2019, 2019, 2019    
 $$$$    
Face value  111111110,00,00,00,000000000    
Less:     

Issuance costs (5,(5,(5,(5,000000007)7)7)7)    
Cumulative accretion expense 375375375375    

balance, end of year 105,36105,36105,36105,368888    

 
On July 4, 2019, the Company issued $100,000 senior subordinated unsecured hybrid debentures due 
July 31, 2024 and on July 9, 2019 the Company issued $10,000 senior subordinated unsecured hybrid debentures 
related to the overallotment option, due July 31, 2024 (together, the “Hybrid debentures”). The Hybrid debentures 
bear interest at a rate of 5.60% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on January 31 and July 31 of each 
year, with the first interest payment on January 31, 2020. The Hybrid debentures will not be redeemable before 
July 31, 2022, except upon the satisfaction of certain conditions after a change of control of the Company. On and 
after July 31, 2022 and prior to July 31, 2023, the Hybrid debentures will be redeemable in whole or in part from 
time to time at the Company’s option, on not more than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior notice, at a 
redemption price equal to 102.80% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest. On and 
after July 31, 2023 and prior to the maturity date on July 31, 2024, the Hybrid debentures will be redeemable, in 
whole or in part, and from time to time, at the Company’s option, on not more than 60 days and not lesss than 30 
days prior notice, at a price of $1 per Hybrid debenture plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Company will have 
the option to repay the principal amount of the Hybrid debentures due at redemption or at maturity on July 31, 
2024 either by paying in cash or by issuing Class A Shares in accordance with the terms of the trust indenture. The 
Hybrid debentures will not be, at any time, convertible into Class A Shares at the option of the holders. The Hybrid 
debentures are recorded at amortized cost, net of issuance costs, using the effective interest rate method. 
 
At December 31, 2019, an amount of $3,080 is recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, representing 
accrued cash interest from the issuance date to December 31, 2019. 
 
The Company incurred underwriting fees and issuance costs of $5,007 which are presented as a reduction of the 
Hybrid debentures.  
 
The proceeds of the Hybrid debentures were used to finance the cash portion of the Natixis Canada, Foresters and 
IAM acquisitions, to reduce indebtedness under the Credit Facility and for general corporate purposes.  
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18.18.18.18. Share caShare caShare caShare capitalpitalpitalpital    and accumulated other comprehensive incomeand accumulated other comprehensive incomeand accumulated other comprehensive incomeand accumulated other comprehensive income    

AuthoAuthoAuthoAuthorizedrizedrizedrized    

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A Shares and an unlimited number of Class B 
Shares. The Class B Shares may only be issued to Fiera Capital L.P. 
 
Except as described below, the Class A Shares and the Class B Shares have the same rights, are equal in all respects 
and are treated as if they were shares of one class only.  The Class A Shares and Class B Shares rank equally with 
respect to the payment of dividends, return of capital and distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Company. 
 
The holders of outstanding Class A Shares and Class B Shares are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally 
available at such times and in such amounts and form as the Board may, from time to time, determine without 
preference or distinction between Class A Shares and Class B Shares. 
 
Class A Shares and Class B Shares each carry one vote per share for all matters other than the election of directors. 
With respect to the election of directors, holders of Class A Shares are entitled to elect, voting separately as a 
class, one-third of the members of the Board while holders of Class B Shares are entitled to elect, voting 
separately as a class, two-thirds of the members of the Board of the Company.  
 
The Class A Shares are not convertible into any other class of shares. Class B Shares are convertible into Class A 
Shares on a one-for-one basis, at the option of the holder as long as Fiera Capital L.P. is controlled by current 
shareholders of Fiera Capital L.P. or holds at least 20% of the total number of issued and outstanding Class A 
Shares and Class B Shares. 
 
The shares have no par value. 
    
Preferred SharesPreferred SharesPreferred SharesPreferred Shares    

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Preferred Shares. Preferred Shares are issuable in 
series and would rank, both in regard to dividends and return on capital, in priority to the holders of the Class A 
Shares, the holders of the Class B Shares and over any other shares ranking junior to the holders of the Preferred 
Shares.  Other conditions could also be applicable to the holders of the Preferred Shares. The Company has not 
issued any Preferred Shares. 
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11118888....    Share capital and accumuShare capital and accumuShare capital and accumuShare capital and accumulated other comprehensive income lated other comprehensive income lated other comprehensive income lated other comprehensive income (continued) 

The following table provides details of the issued, fully paid and outstanding common shares:  

    ClaClaClaClass A ss A ss A ss A SSSShareshareshareshares    Class BClass BClass BClass B    SSSShareharehareharessss    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

    NNNNumberumberumberumber    $$$$    NumberNumberNumberNumber    $$$$    NumberNumberNumberNumber    $$$$    
As at December 31, 2017 70,249,199 660,644 19,444,490 30,942 89,693,689 691,586 
Issuance of shares       

Shares issued as part of a business 
combination  5,600,315 66,708 −−−− −−−− 5,600,315 66,708 

Shares issued as settlement of purchase 
price obligations 335,838 4,076 −−−− −−−− 335,838 4,076 

Performance and restricted share units 
settled 964,200 9,072 −−−− −−−− 964,200 9,072 

Stock options exercised 391,409 4,172 −−−− −−−− 391,409 4,172 
Cancellation of shares (16,762) (191) −−−− −−−− (16,762) (191) 
Transfers from Class B shares to Class A shares 32,089 51 (32,089) (51) −−−− −−−− 
Adjustment to transaction costs on share 

previously issued −−−− 192 −−−− −−−− −−−− 192 
As at December 31, 2018 77,556,288 744,724 19,412,401 30,891 96,968,689 775,615 

Issuance of shares                         
Shares issued as part of business 

combinations (Note 4)  3,044,3333,044,3333,044,3333,044,333    35353535,313,313,313,313    −−−−    −−−−    3,044,3333,044,3333,044,3333,044,333    35,31335,31335,31335,313    
Shares issued as settlement of purchase 

price obligations 458,157458,157458,157458,157    5,55,55,55,532323232    −−−−    −−−−    458,15458,15458,15458,157777    5,5325,5325,5325,532    
Performance and restricted share units 

settled 2,194,7062,194,7062,194,7062,194,706    10,71010,71010,71010,710    −−−−    −−−−    2,194,72,194,72,194,72,194,706060606    10,71010,71010,71010,710    
Stock options exercised 152,37152,37152,37152,377777    1,1,1,1,241241241241    −−−−    −−−−    152,377152,377152,377152,377    1,2411,2411,2411,241    
Reinvested dividends 31,00031,00031,00031,000    339339339339    −−−−    −−−−    31,031,031,031,000000000    339339339339    

Conversion of holdback shares 384,292384,292384,292384,292    5,5,5,5,501501501501    −−−−    −−−−    384,292384,292384,292384,292    5,5015,5015,5015,501    
Share repurchase and cancellation (2,458(2,458(2,458(2,458,550),550),550),550)    (23,742)(23,742)(23,742)(23,742)    −−−−    −−−−    (2,458,550)(2,458,550)(2,458,550)(2,458,550)    (23,742)(23,742)(23,742)(23,742)    
As at December 31,As at December 31,As at December 31,As at December 31,    2012012012019999    (1) 81,362,6081,362,6081,362,6081,362,603333    777777779,6189,6189,6189,618    19,412,40119,412,40119,412,40119,412,401    30,89130,89130,89130,891    100,77100,77100,77100,775,0045,0045,0045,004    810,509810,509810,509810,509    

 (1)    Includes 3,300,045 Class A Shares held in escrow in relation with the Apex acquisition (4,125,055 as at December 31, 2018) and 637,293 
Class A Shares held in escrow in relation with the Clearwater acquisition (724,197 as at December 31, 2018). 
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11118888....    ShaShaShaShare capital anre capital anre capital anre capital and accumd accumd accumd accumuuuulated other comprehensive incomelated other comprehensive incomelated other comprehensive incomelated other comprehensive income (continued) 

2019201920192019    

Issuance of sharIssuance of sharIssuance of sharIssuance of shareseseses    

Shares issued as part of business combinations  

On April 3, 2019, as part of the acquisition of Palmer Capital, the Company issued 1,430,036 Class A Shares for 
$16,975. 
 
On July 3, 2019, as part of the acquisition of IAM, the Company issued 1,614,297 Class A Shares for $18,338. 
 
Shares issued as settlement of purchase price obligations 

On February 13, 2019, in connection with the asset purchase agreement of Fiera Private Debt (formerly, Private 
Lending and formerly Centria Commerce Inc. prior to the acquisition date), the Company issued 458,157 Class A 
Shares for $5,532 as settlement of purchase price obligations, net of issuance costs. 
 
Performance share units and restricted share units settled  

During the year ended December 31, 2019, 2,194,706 Class A Shares were issued following the vesting of 
performance share units.   
 
Stock option exercised 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, 152,377 stock options were exercised and 152,377 Class A Shares were 
issued for $1,241. 
 
CoCoCoConversionnversionnversionnversion    of holdback sharesof holdback sharesof holdback sharesof holdback shares    

On July 11, 2019, in connection with the acquisition of CGOV Asset Management on May 31, 2018, the Company 
settled a purchase price obligation payable in contingently issuable Class A Shares.  
 
As a result of the settlement, 384,292 of the 923,778 Class A Shares held in escrow as contingently issuable Class 
A Shares were released to the seller, and the remaining 539,486 Class A Shares were returned to treasury and 
cancelled. 
  
Class A Shares held in escrow as reinvested dividends were also released as part of the settlement, with 6,090 
Class A Shares released to the seller and 8,550 Class A Shares returned to treasury and cancelled. The Company 
recorded an increase of $421 in contributed surplus related to the cancellation of shares and previously paid 
dividends returned to the Company.  
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11118888....    Share capital andShare capital andShare capital andShare capital and    acacacacccccumulated otherumulated otherumulated otherumulated other    comprehensive income comprehensive income comprehensive income comprehensive income (continued)    

Share repuShare repuShare repuShare repurchase rchase rchase rchase aaaand cannd cannd cannd cancellation cellation cellation cellation     

Natixis 

On May 9, 2019, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement by which an affiliate of Natixis 
Investment Managers S.A. (“Natixis”), a global asset management firm, Natixis Investment Managers Canada 
Holdings Ltd. (“Natixis Canada Holdings”), acquired a total of 10,680,000 Class A subordinate voting shares 
(“Class A Shares”) of the Company from Natcan Investment Management Inc. (“Natcan”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of National Bank of Canada, and DJM Capital for total consideration of $128,160. The Board approved 
the share purchase agreement for the purchase for cancellation of 2,450,000 of its Class A Shares from Natcan for 
total consideration of $29,400. The fair value of the shares cancelled was $23,661 and the premium paid by the 
Company of $5,739 was recorded in contributed surplus. The closing and settlement dates for this transaction was 
May 9, 2019. 
 
On July 3, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Natixis 
Canada, Natixis’ Canadian operations (Note 4).  
 
TransfersTransfersTransfersTransfers    

During the year ended December 31, 2019, no Class B Shares were converted into Class A Shares.    
    
2012012012018888    

IssuIssuIssuIssuance of shareance of shareance of shareance of sharessss    

Shares issued as part of business combinations 

On August 9, 2018, as part of the acquisition of Clearwater, the Company issued 982,532 Class A shares for 
$11,723, less issuance costs of $28.  
 
On May 31, 2018, as part of the acquisition of CGOV, the Company issued 4,617,783 Class A shares for $55,136, 
less issuance costs of $123.  
 
Shares issued as settlement of purchase price obligations 

On February 22, 2018, in connection with the asset purchase agreement of Fiera Private Debt, formerly Fiera 
Private Lending, the Company issued 335,838 Class A Shares for $4,083 as settlement of purchase price 
obligations, less issuance costs of $7. 
 
Performance share units and restricted share units settled  

During the year ended December 31, 2018, 964,200 Class A Shares were issued following the vesting of 
performance share units and restricted share units worth $9,072. 
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11118888....    Share capital and accumulated otherShare capital and accumulated otherShare capital and accumulated otherShare capital and accumulated other    comprcomprcomprcomprehenehenehenehensive income sive income sive income sive income (continued)    

Stock option exercised 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, 391,409 stock options were exercised and 391,409 Class A Shares were 
issued for $4,172.  
    
Cancellation of sharesCancellation of sharesCancellation of sharesCancellation of shares    

During the year ended December 31, 2018, 4,060 Class A Shares were cancelled due to the forfeiture of restricted 
shares and 12,702 Class A Shares were cancelled as settlement of purchase price adjustments related to the 
Clearwater acquisition. 
    
TransfersTransfersTransfersTransfers    

During the year ended December 31, 2018, 32,089 Class B Shares were converted into Class A Shares on a one-
for-one basis. 
    
DividendsDividendsDividendsDividends    

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company declared dividends on Class A shares and Class B shares 
totalling $83,732 ($0.84 per share) (2018 – $73,581 ($0.78 per share)) of which $197 were declared on holdback 
shares (2018 – $186). $83,393 of these dividends were settled in cash (2018 − $73,581).  
 
Dividend ReiDividend ReiDividend ReiDividend Reinvesnvesnvesnvestmenttmenttmenttment    PlaPlaPlaPlan n n n     

The Board approved a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”) dated May 30, 2019. The DRIP provides the 
Company’s shareholders with the option to have cash dividends on their Class A Shares automatically reinvested 
into additional Class A Shares. At the Company’s sole discretion, shares issued to settle the dividend payment 
under the DRIP may be either in the form of newly issued treasury shares, purchased on the open market or a 
combination of both. The company may also, from time to time, in its sole discretion, offer a discount of up to 
5.00% of the average market price for shares purchased from treasury.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, 31,000 Class A Shares were issued for $339 of reinvested dividends. 
These shares were issued from treasury at a discount of nil. 

    
Accumulated other comprehensive incomeAccumulated other comprehensive incomeAccumulated other comprehensive incomeAccumulated other comprehensive income    

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income as at December 31 include:  

 DecembeDecembeDecembeDecemberrrr    31, 31, 31, 31, 2012012012019999 December 31, 2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Cash flow hedges ((((1,1,1,1,383383383383))))    3,927 
Other ((((61616161))))    −−−− 
Unrealized exchange differences on translating financial 

statements of foreign operations 17,17,17,17,222243434343    33,729 
 15,15,15,15,799799799799    37,656 
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11119999....    Earnings (loss) per Earnings (loss) per Earnings (loss) per Earnings (loss) per shareshareshareshare    

Earnings (loss) per share and the reconciliation of the number of shares used to calculate basic and diluted 
earnings (loss) per share are as follows: 
 

    For the years ended December 31,For the years ended December 31,For the years ended December 31,For the years ended December 31,    

    2012012012019999    2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Net earnings (loss) attributable to shareholders  ((((13,41913,41913,41913,419))))    (5,013) 
      
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic  99,045,37899,045,37899,045,37899,045,378    94,665,002 
Effect of dilutive share-based awards −    − 
Weighted average shares outstanding – diluted 99,045,37899,045,37899,045,37899,045,378    94,665,002 

      

Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.1(0.1(0.1(0.14444))))    (0.05)(0.05)(0.05)(0.05) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.1(0.1(0.1(0.14444))))    (0.05)(0.05)(0.05)(0.05) 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the share-based awards payable in 6,103,863 shares and contingent 
consideration payable in nil shares, as well as the convertible and hybrid debentures with a face value of 
respectively $86,250 and $110,000 were all anti-dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the calculation 
of hypothetical conversions does not include 10,274,558 share-based awards payable in shares and 2,165,250 
contingent consideration payable in shares, or the convertible debentures with a face value of $86,250 as these 
are anti-dilutive  
 

20.20.20.20. ShareShareShareShare----based paymentbased paymentbased paymentbased paymentssss    

a) Stock option plan 

Under the Company’s stock option plan, the exercise price of each stock option is equal to the volume weighted 
average trading price of the Company’s shares on the TSX for the five trading days immediately preceding the date 
the stock option is granted. The Board may determine the maximum term for which options are granted and will 
become exercisable and whether the options will be exercisable in instalments or pursuant to a vesting schedule.  

A summary of the changes that occurred in the Company’s stock option plan during the years ended  
December 31, 2019, and 2018, is presented below: 
 

 2012012012019999    2018 

 

Number ofNumber ofNumber ofNumber of    
Class Class Class Class AAAA    SSSSharehareharehare    

ooooptionptionptionptionssss    

WeightedWeightedWeightedWeighted----
averageaverageaverageaverage    

exercise priexercise priexercise priexercise pricececece    

Number of 
Class A Share 

options 

Weighted-
average 

exercise price 

     $$$$     $ 

Outstanding – beginning of year 3333,977,191,977,191,977,191,977,191    12121212.21.21.21.21    4,183,852 11.86 
 Granted 1,100,0001,100,0001,100,0001,100,000    12.2512.2512.2512.25    305,000 12.22 
 Exercised (152,377(152,377(152,377(152,377))))    6.586.586.586.58    (391,409) 8.07 

 Forfeited (3(3(3(398989898,045),045),045),045)    13.13.13.13.31313131    (120,252) 13.63 

Outstanding – end of year 4,526,7694,526,7694,526,7694,526,769    12.3212.3212.3212.32    3,977,191 12.21 

Options exercisable – end of year 1,176,5101,176,5101,176,5101,176,510    11.6011.6011.6011.60    1,281,812 11.20 
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20202020....    ShaShaShaSharrrreeee----based pbased pbased pbased payments ayments ayments ayments (continued) 

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine the share-based compensation 
expense using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

    2012012012019999    2018 

   

Dividend yield (%) 6.906.906.906.90    6.20 

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.591.591.591.59    2.25 

Expected life (years) 7.727.727.727.72    7.5 

Expected volatility of the share price (%) 25.2625.2625.2625.26    26.30 

Weighted-average fair value ($) 1.01.01.01.04444    1.41 

      

Share-based compensation expense ($) 518518518518    1,732 
 

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s share price. The risk-free interest rate 
used is equal to the yield available on government of Canada bonds at the date of grant with a term equal to the 
expected life of options.  
 
The following table summarizes the stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2019: 
 

Options Options Options Options outstandingoutstandingoutstandingoutstanding    Options exercisaOptions exercisaOptions exercisaOptions exercisableblebleble    

Range of exercise price 

Number of 
Class A 

Share 
options 

Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual life 

in years 

Weighted- 
average 

 exercise 
 price 

Number of 
 Class A 

 Share 
 options 

Weighted-
average 
exercise 

price 

   $  $ 

      

5.41 to 8.50 516,510 1.72 8.09 396,510 8.30 

8.51 to 14.77 4,010,259 8.26 12.86 780,000 13.28 
 

b) Deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan 
 

In 2007, the Board adopted a deferred share unit plan (the “DSU Plan”) for the purposes of strengthening the 
alignment of interests between the directors and the shareholders by linking a portion of annual director 
compensation to the future value of the shares, in lieu of cash compensation. As at September 1, 2010, the Board 
cancelled the DSU plan; however, all existing rights and privileges were kept intact. All directors are now 
compensated in cash.  
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a liability for an amount of $106 for the 9,031 units outstanding 
under the DSU plan ($95 for 8,395 units as at December 31, 2018). 
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20202020....    ShareShareShareShare----based based based based payments payments payments payments (continued) 

c) Restricted share unit (“RSU”) plan 

On April 12, 2018, the Board approved an amended and restated RSU Plan mainly to include various tax 
considerations and to specify that the Company may, at its discretion, settle the RSU awards in cash or in shares. 
The purpose of this plan is to provide eligible employees with the opportunity to acquire RSUs in order to retain 
key employees and to permit them to participate in the growth and development of the Company and to better 
align the interests of participants with the long-term interests of shareholders of the Company.   
 
The following table presents transactions that occurred in the Company’s RSU Plan during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018.  

(1) No restricted share units were settled in cash (2018 – 47,252). 

One RSU is equivalent to one Class A Share of the Company. The Company recorded an expense of $1,880 and 
$3,176 for these grants during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. During the year ended 
December 31, 2019, 136,234 Class A Shares (2018 – 327,433) were issued as settlement of RSU vested and no 
cash was paid as settlement of vested RSUs (2018 – $585). As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a liability 
in the amount of $2,100 for the 242,738 units outstanding under the RSU Plan ($1,759 for 258,560 units as at 
December 31, 2018). 

d) Restricted share unit plan – cash (“RSU cash”) 

On April 12, 2018, the Board approved an amended and restated RSU cash plan mainly to include various tax 
considerations. The purpose of this plan is to provide eligible employees with the opportunity to acquire restricted 
share units in order to retain key employees and to permit them to participate in the growth and development of 
the Company and to better align the interests of participants with the long-term interests of shareholders of the 
Company. All RSUs granted under this plan will be settled in cash. The following table presents transactions that 
occurred in the Company’s RSU Plan during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.  
 
     2012012012019999    2018 
Outstanding units – beginning of year  528,308528,308528,308528,308    504,380 

Granted  111127,27,27,27,389389389389    154,693 
Reinvestments in lieu of dividends  38,538,538,538,560606060    37,936 
Vested  (325,643)(325,643)(325,643)(325,643)    (167,974) 
Forfeited  −−−−    (727) 

Outstanding units – end of year  368,614368,614368,614368,614    528,308 

     2012012012019999    2018 
Outstanding units – beginning of year  258,560258,560258,560258,560    608,635 

Granted  100,001100,001100,001100,001    − 
Reinvestments in lieu of dividends  20,20,20,20,411411411411    24,610 
Vested (1)  (136(136(136(136,234),234),234),234)    (374,685) 
Forfeited  −    − 

Outstanding units– end of year  242,738242,738242,738242,738    258,560 
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20202020....    ShShShShareareareare----based payments based payments based payments based payments (continued) 

RSU cash units are equivalent to one Class A Share of the Company. The Company recorded an expense of $2,658 
and $2,254 for these grants during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. During the year 
ended December 31, 2019, 325,643 units vested (2018 - 167,974) and an amount of $1,945 was paid in cash as 
settlement of 172,057 units (2018 - $396 paid in cash for 32,607 units) and the remaining 153,586 units were 
settled in cash in January 2020. In addition, $1,528 was paid during the year as settlement of units that vested in 
2018. As at December 31, 2019, the Company had a liability totalling $3,486 for the 368,614 units outstanding 
($4,305 for the 528,308 units as at December 31, 2018). 
 
e) Restricted share plan 

As at December 31, 2018, there were no longer any restricted shares outstanding. On March 21, 2019 the Board 
approved the termination of the Restricted share plan. No expenses were recorded for the restricted share plan 
during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - $284). 
 
f) PSU and UAR Plan applicable to Business Units 

On April 12, 2018, the Board approved an amended and restated PSU plan applicable to Business Units (“BU”) 
mainly to include various tax considerations. Performance share units are provided to eligible employees at an 
award value which is determined by the Board as the original value of the award.  The number of performance 
share units awarded to a participant as of the award date is calculated by dividing the award value by the value of 
the PSU BU as determined by the Board at each award date.  
 
PSUs are considered granted when the award notice is approved by the Board and is accepted by the employee. 
The vesting date is the date at which all vesting terms and conditions set forth in the PSU plan applicable to BU 
and the employee’s award notice have been satisfied.   
 
Vested PSUs are settled in accordance with the terms of the plan.  The settlement date value is determined by the 
product of the number of PSUs vested and the value of the PSU on the applicable vesting date. 
 
In June 2018, the Company amended its Performance Share Unit Plan applicable to Business Units (PSU applicable 
to BU) plan to include an ability to grant Unit Appreciation Rights applicable to Business Units (UAR applicable to 
BU).   
 
PSU applicable to BU 

The Company recorded the following expense relating to PSU plans applicable to BU during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 
 2012012012019999    2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Equity-settled grants 6,3436,3436,3436,343    6,229 
Cash-settled grants 8,548,548,548,540000    7,297 

Total expense 14,814,814,814,883838383    13,526 
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20202020....    ShaShaShaSharererere----bbbbased payments ased payments ased payments ased payments (continued) 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the total award value granted under the Company's PSU plans 
applicable to BUs was $6,320. A total of 1,820,929 Class A Shares were issued during the year ended December 
31, 2019 as settlement of PSU applicable to BUs that had vested in 2018 and 7,818 Class A Shares were issued as 
settlement of PSU applicable to BUs vested in 2019. Vested units that were not settled as at December 31, 2019 
will be settled during fiscal year 2020. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the total award value granted under the Company's PSU plans 
applicable to BUs was $6,575. A total of 616,948 Class A Shares were issued during the year ended December 31, 
2018 as settlement of PSU applicable to BUs. Vested units were settled in 2019 through the issuance of Class A 
Shares.  
 
UAR applicable to BU 

Under the UAR plan applicable to BUs, eligible employees are entitled to receive Class A Shares of the Company 
for an amount equivalent to the difference between the business value per unit on the vesting date and the 
exercise price determined on the grant date. The Company recorded an expense of $1,963 and $1,276 during the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
g) PSU plan  

On April 12, 2018, the Board approved an amended and restated PSU Plan mainly to include various tax 
considerations and to specify that the Company may, at its discretion, settle the PSU awards in cash or in shares. 
PSUs are provided to eligible employees at an award value which is determined by the Board as the original value 
of the award.  The number of PSUs awarded to a participant as of the award date is calculated by dividing the 
award value by the market value on the award date. One PSU unit is equivalent to one Class A Share of the 
Company. 
 
The Company recorded the following expense relating to PSU plans during the years ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018: 
 
 2222000011119999    2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Equity-settled grants 1,4191,4191,4191,419    1,292 
Cash-settled grants 1,1491,1491,1491,149    1,126 

Total expense 2,562,562,562,568888    2,418 

 
The total award value granted to eligible employees under the Company’s PSU plans for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $548 and $4,828 respectively. A total of 217,882 Class A Shares were issued 
and $2,580 was paid during the year ended December 31, 2019 as settlement of PSU vested in 2018 and 2019 
(2018 – 19,819 Class A shares issued as settlement of PSUs vested in 2017). Vested units that were not settled as 
at December 31, 2019 will be settled in 2020.  
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20202020....    ShareShareShareShare----based pabased pabased pabased payments yments yments yments (continued) 
 
h) Stock option plans in the Company’s subsidiaries  

One of the Company’s subsidiaries has a stock option plan which is based on the shares of the respective 
subsidiary entity. This plan is accounted for as a cash-settled plan. The Company’s subsidiaries stock option 
expense in the statements of consolidated net earnings (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $2,443 
($2,568 for the year ended December 31, 2018). The subsidiary paid an amount of $1,119 and $651 during the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, as settlement of stock options. The cash settled share-
based liability is $5,280 in the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 ($3,956 as at December 
31, 2018). 

21212121. . . . PPPPostostostost----employment bemployment bemployment bemployment benefit obligationsenefit obligationsenefit obligationsenefit obligations    

The Company contributes to defined contribution plans for its employees. Contributions for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 amount to $4,566 ($3,696 for the year ended December 31, 2018). 
 
Subsequent to a business combination in September 2010, the Company assumed the role of sponsor of six 
individual pension plans (“IPPs”) which had been established by the Company for former employees. Under 
pension legislation, while the IPPs are ongoing, the Company has no legal requirement to make contributions 
towards any solvency deficiencies.  These IPPs are valued on a triennial reporting cycle. The most recent actuarial 
valuation was performed as at January 1, 2019 for four plans.  The next actuarial valuation date is January 1, 2021 
for one plan, June 30, 2021 for one plan and January 1, 2022 for four plans. Each IPP plan will be individually 
wound up upon the death of the respective participant or if applicable, their surviving spouse. 
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22222222....    Expenses by natureExpenses by natureExpenses by natureExpenses by nature    

The details of selling, general and administration expense are as follows: 
 

    FFFFoooor the years ended Decr the years ended Decr the years ended Decr the years ended December 31ember 31ember 31ember 31,,,, 

    2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Salaries, wages and employee benefits 377,364377,364377,364377,364    327,613 

Travelling and marketing 15,94315,94315,94315,943    12,756 

Reference fees 17,17,17,17,426426426426    17,746 

Rent 1,6811,6811,6811,681    13,069 

Technical services 36,15036,15036,15036,150    26,134 

Professional fees 20,20,20,20,111151515151    14,291 

Insurance, permits and taxes 3,83,83,83,813131313    3,289 

Other 11,11,11,11,869869869869    11,026 

 484848484,3974,3974,3974,397    425,924 

 
The details of salaries, wages and employee benefits are as follows:   
 

    For thFor thFor thFor the years e years e years e years ended Deceended Deceended Deceended Decembembembember 31,r 31,r 31,r 31, 

    2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Salaries and wages 321,396321,396321,396321,396    276,192 

Pension costs 4,54,54,54,566666666    3,696 

Payroll deductions 23,23,23,23,352352352352    19,051 

Share-based compensation 10,10,10,10,222242424242    10,813 

Cash settled share-based compensation 11114,024,024,024,022222    14,155 

Other 3,783,783,783,786666    3,706 

 373737377,3647,3647,3647,364    327,613 

 
Key management are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Company and include the Company’s directors and key officers. Compensation awarded to key 
management is as follows: 

    For the yeaFor the yeaFor the yeaFor the years ended December 31,rs ended December 31,rs ended December 31,rs ended December 31, 

    2020202011119999    2018 
 $$$$    $ 
Salaries and other short-term benefits 33331,9061,9061,9061,906    24,004 
Share-based payments 5555,,,,535535535535    5,408 
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22223333. . . . InteresInteresInteresInterest on longt on longt on longt on long----teteteterm debt and other financial crm debt and other financial crm debt and other financial crm debt and other financial chargeshargeshargesharges    

    For the yearFor the yearFor the yearFor the years ens ens ens enddddeeeedddd    December 31,December 31,December 31,December 31, 

    2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Interest on long-term debt 20,50720,50720,50720,507    18,092 

Interest on convertible debentures 9,1859,1859,1859,185    5,634 

Interest on derivative financial instruments (422)(422)(422)(422)    (2,843) 

Amortization of deferred financing charges 726726726726    650 

Other interest 1,3161,3161,3161,316    1,071 

Foreign exchange (1(1(1(12,4372,4372,4372,437))))    5,844 

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 12,12,12,12,969696966666    (3,093) 

 33331,1,1,1,888841414141    25,355 

 

22224444. . . . Additional Additional Additional Additional infinfinfinformatormatormatormation rion rion rion relatielatielatielatingngngng    to conto conto conto consolidatsolidatsolidatsolidated statemened statemened statemened statementtttssss    of cash flowsof cash flowsof cash flowsof cash flows    

    For tFor tFor tFor the years endedhe years endedhe years endedhe years ended    December 31,December 31,December 31,December 31, 

    2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

ChanChanChanChangesgesgesges    in nonin nonin nonin non----cash opcash opcash opcash operating working capitalerating working capitalerating working capitalerating working capital    itemsitemsitemsitems         

Accounts receivable ((((3,8883,8883,8883,888))))    (7,100) 

Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,27(2,27(2,27(2,270000))))    (1,528) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,20422,20422,20422,204    4,532 

Amounts due to related parties (1(1(1(1,,,,087)087)087)087)    1,358 

Client deposits and deferred revenues 1,0341,0341,0341,034    (185) 

 11115,5,5,5,993993993993    (2,923) 

The following are non-cash items:  

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued Class A Shares of $35,313 (2018 – $72,209) as 
part of business combinations, of $5,532 (2018 – $4,083) as settlement of purchase price obligations and of 
$10,710 (2018 – $9,072) as settlement for PSUs and RSUs. The puttable financial instrument liability of $13,237 
recorded at the acquisition of Palmer Capital along with an amount of $19,468 for an acquisition of a contingent 
value right asset and $10,453 for a contingent value right liability, are recorded as non-cash items.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, The Company also cancelled shares previously issued as part of 
business combinations of $191 and recorded adjustments to accrued share issuance costs of $241 and accrued 
issuance costs related to the convertible debentures of $238 included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  
 
Additions to property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $1,132 (2018 – $179) 
along with additions to intangible assets included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $205 (2018 – 
$129) are non-cash items during the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 
The changes in non-cash working capital for accounts payable and accrued liabilities exclude the difference 
between income taxes paid of $17,756 (2018 – $7,916) and income tax expense of $9,692 (2018 – $14,060) for a 
net impact of ($8,064) for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 – $6,144). 
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22225555. . . . CommitmentsCommitmentsCommitmentsCommitments    and and and and CCCContingent liabilitiesontingent liabilitiesontingent liabilitiesontingent liabilities    

CommitmentCommitmentCommitmentCommitmentssss    

The Company signed contracts for licence, software services and other expiring at different dates until 2024.  

The total payments for each of the next five years, and thereafter for commitments are as follows: 
    $$$$    

2020 11,11,11,11,207207207207    

2021 8,3998,3998,3998,399    

2022  4,94,94,94,970707070    

2023 409409409409    

2024 272727273333    

Thereafter −−−−    

     22225555,,,,258258258258    

 

Contingent liabilitiesContingent liabilitiesContingent liabilitiesContingent liabilities    
In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries may be party to business and employee-related 
claims. The potential outcomes related to existing matters faced by the Company are not determinable at this 
time. The Company intends to defend these actions, and management believes that the resolution of these 
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition. 
 

22226666. . . . Capital managemeCapital managemeCapital managemeCapital managementntntnt    

The Company’s capital comprises share capital, retained earnings (deficit), long-term debt, convertible debentures 
and hybrid debentures, less cash and cash equivalents. The Company manages its capital to ensure there are 
adequate capital resources while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and 
equity balance and to maintain compliance with regulatory requirements and certain restrictive covenants 
required by the lender of the debt. As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company and one of its subsidiaries are 
subject to calculations of excess working capital as required by National Instrument 31-103 Registration 
Requirements and Exemptions, calculated on a non-consolidated basis, and they have complied with their 
respective calculations. The Company and its subsidiaries have also complied with their restrictive debt covenants 
under the various credit facilities. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may issue shares, proceed to the issuance or 
repayment of debt or redeem convertible debentures (as applicable under the terms of the respective final short-
term prospectuses for these convertible debt). 
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22227777. . . . RRRRelated party transactionselated party transactionselated party transactionselated party transactions    

In the normal course of business, the Company carries out transactions with related parties which include two 
related shareholders or with entities under the same common control as these related shareholders.  
 
At December 31, 2019, a related shareholder indirectly owns Class B Special Voting Shares representing 
approximately 7.2% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares (7.4% as at December 31, 2018) and 
pursuant to the terms of a shareholders’ agreement between this related shareholder and an entity related to the 
Company, the related shareholder is entitled to appoint two of the eight directors of the Company that the 
holders of Class B Shares are entitled to elect. This related shareholder is one of the two co-lead arrangers and one 
of the lenders in the syndicate of lenders to the Company’s Credit Facility and effective June 2019 took on the role 
as administrative agent of the Credit Agreement. 
 
Following the Natixis transaction in May 2019, a shareholder was no longer considered a related party due to a 
reduction in their beneficial share ownership. Transactions with this shareholder prior to May 2019 are included in 
the table below.   
 
In addition, following the Natixis transaction in May 2019 (Note 4), a related shareholder owns 10.60% Class A 
Subordinate voting shares and has the right to elect one director to the Company’s Board. 
 
The following table presents transactions either directly with the two related shareholders or with entities under 
the same common control as these related shareholders: 
 

    2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Base management fees  22,15022,15022,15022,150    44,154 

Performance fees −    3,779 

Other revenues 5,3235,3235,3235,323    367 

Selling, general & administrative expenses         

Reference fees 544544544544    1,701 

Other 111196969696    613 

Interest on long-term debt 17,33117,33117,33117,331    15,946 
Net (gain) loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments 

included in interest on long-term debt and other financial 
charges 8,2768,2768,2768,276    (3,093) 

Cash consideration as settlement of a purchase price 
obligation −    8,500 
 

The Company has also carried out the following transactions with joint ventures and associates: 

    2012012012019999    2018 

 $$$$    $ 

Other revenues 414141414444    − 

The transactions were made in the normal course of business and are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.   
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22228888. . . . Segment reportinSegment reportinSegment reportinSegment reportingggg    

The Company has determined that there is one reportable segment, asset management services.  The geographical 
information is provided in the following table: 

    RevenuesRevenuesRevenuesRevenues    NonNonNonNon----current assetscurrent assetscurrent assetscurrent assets    

 
For the yeFor the yeFor the yeFor the year ended ar ended ar ended ar ended     

DeDeDeDecccceeeember 31, mber 31, mber 31, mber 31, 2012012012019999    
AsAsAsAs    at at at at     

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, 2012012012019999    

 $$$$    $$$$    

Canada 333327,38027,38027,38027,380    777744,02444,02444,02444,024    

United States of America 216,952216,952216,952216,952    444463,363,363,363,322229999    

Europe and other 112,112,112,112,838838838838    161616167777,,,,999999999999    

 657,170657,170657,170657,170    1,1,1,1,375,375,375,375,352352352352    

 
    Revenues Non-current assets 

 
For the year ended  

December 31, 2018 
As at  

December 31, 2018 

 $ $ 

Canada 268,547 599,334 

United States of America 198,261 472,472 

Europe and other 73,477 105,872 

 540,285 1,177,678 

 
Revenues are attributed to countries on the basis of the client’s location. As at December 31, 2019, non-current 
assets presented above exclude deferred income taxes of $23,559, financial instruments of $537 and other non-
current assets of $6,654 ($20,093, $5,388 and nil respectively as at December 31, 2018). 
 

22229999. . . . SubsequenSubsequenSubsequenSubsequent eventt eventt eventt eventssss    

I. Subsequent to December 31, 2019, financial markets have been negatively impacted by the novel Coronavirus 
or COVID-19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 12, 2020. This has 
resulted in significant economic uncertainty and consequently, it is difficult to reliably measure the potential 
impact of this uncertainty on our future financial results.  
 

II. On March 18, 2020, the Board declared a quarterly dividend of $0.21 per share to shareholders of record as at 
March 31, 2020 which is payable on April 28, 2020. 
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